
BCP Council Civic Centre, Bourne Avenue, Bournemouth BH2 6DY 

 

 
 

 

Notice of Western BCP Planning Committee 
 

Date: Thursday, 6 November 2025 at 10.00 am 

Venue: HMS Phoebe, BCP Civic Centre, Bournemouth BH2 6DY 

 

Membership: 

Chairman: 

Cllr M Le Poidevin 

Vice Chairman: 

Cllr J Clements 

Cllr C Adams 
Cllr J Challinor 
Cllr A Chapmanlaw 
 

Cllr P Cooper 
Cllr B Hitchcock 
Cllr G Martin 
 

Cllr S McCormack 
Cllr J Salmon 
Cllr P Sidaway 
 

 

All Members of the Western BCP Planning Committee are summoned to attend this meeting 

to consider the items of business set out on the agenda below. 
 
The press and public are welcome to view the live stream of this meeting at the following 

link: 
 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6142 
 
If you would like any further information on the items to be considered at the meeting please 

contact:  on 01202 096660 or email democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
 

Press enquiries should be directed to the Press Office: Tel: 01202 118686 or 
email press.office@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
  

This notice and all the papers mentioned within it are available at democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

  

A
v
a
ila

b
le

 o
n
lin

e
 a

n
d
 

o
n
 t
h
e
 M

o
d
.g

o
v
 a

p
p
 

 

 

 

 
 
AIDAN DUNN 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
 29 October 2025 

 



 

 

 



 

 

AGENDA 
Items to be considered while the meeting is open to the public 

1.   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies for absence from Members. 

 

 

2.   Substitute Members  

 To receive information on any changes in the membership of the 
Committee. 

 
Note – When a member of a Committee is unable to attend a meeting of a 
Committee or Sub-Committee, the relevant Political Group Leader (or their 

nominated representative) may, by notice to the Monitoring Officer (or their 
nominated representative) prior to the meeting, appoint a substitute 

member from within the same Political Group. The contact details on the 
front of this agenda should be used for notifications.  
 

 

3.   Declarations of Interests  

 Councillors are requested to declare any interests on items included in this 
agenda. Please refer to the workflow on the preceding page for guidance. 

Declarations received will be reported at the meeting. 

 

 

4.   Confirmation of Minutes 7 - 8 

 To confirm and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 
9 October 2025. 

 

 

5.   Public Issues 9 - 16 

 To receive any requests to speak on planning applications which the 
Planning Committee is considering at this meeting. 

 
The deadline for the submission of requests to speak is 10.00am on 
Wednesday 5 November 2025 [10.00am of the working day before the 

meeting]. Requests should be submitted to Democratic Services using the 
contact details on the front of this agenda. 

 
Further information about how public speaking is managed at meetings is 
contained in the Planning Committee Protocol for Public Speaking and 

Statements, a copy of which is included with this agenda sheet and is also 
published on the website on the following page: 

 
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=614 
 
Summary of speaking arrangements as follows: 

 

Speaking at Planning Committee (in person or virtually): 
 

 There will be a maximum combined time of five minutes to speak in 
objection and up to two persons may speak within the five minutes. 

 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=614


 
 

 

 There will be a further maximum combined time of five minutes to speak in 
support and up to two persons may speak within the five minutes. 

 No speaker may speak for more than half this time (two and a half minutes) 
UNLESS there are no other requests to speak received by the deadline OR 
it is with the agreement of the other speaker. 

 

Anyone who has registered to speak by the deadline may, as an alternative 
to speaking/for use in default, submit a written statement to be read out on 

their behalf. This must be provided to Democratic Services by 10.00am of 
the working day before the meeting, must not exceed 450 words and will be 
treated as amounting to two and a half minutes of speaking time. 

 
Please refer to the full Protocol document for further guidance. 

 
Note: The public speaking procedure is separate from and is not intended 
to replicate or replace the procedure for submitting a written representation 

on a planning application to the Planning Offices during the consultation 
period. 
 

 ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 

 

6.   Schedule of Planning Applications  

 To consider the planning applications as listed below.  
 

See planning application reports circulated with the agenda, as updated by 
the agenda addendum sheet to be published one working day before the 

meeting. 
 
Councillors are requested where possible to submit any technical 

questions on planning applications to the Case Officer at least 48 
hours before the meeting to ensure this information can be provided 

at the meeting.  

 
The running order in which planning applications will be considered will be 

as listed on this agenda sheet.  
 

The Chair retains discretion to propose an amendment to the running order 
at the meeting if it is considered expedient to do so. 
 

Members will appreciate that the copy drawings attached to planning 
application reports are reduced from the applicants’ original and detail, in 

some cases, may be difficult to read. To search for planning applications, 
please use the following link: 
 

https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/search-and-
comment-on-planning-applications 

 
Councillors are advised that if they wish to refer to specific drawings or 
plans which are not included in these papers, they should contact the Case 

Officer at least 48 hours before the meeting to ensure that these can be 
made available. 

 

https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/search-and-comment-on-planning-applications
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/search-and-comment-on-planning-applications


 
 

 

 

To view Local Plans, again, the following link will take you to the main 
webpage where you can click on a tile to view the local plan for that area. 

The link is:  
 
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Planning-and-building-control/Planning-

policy/Current-Local-Plans/Current-Local-Plan.aspx  
 

a)   10 Egdon Drive, Poole BH21 1TY 17 - 32 

 Bearwood and Merley Ward 

 
P/25/01431/FUL 

 
Proposed change of use from dwelling house (C3 use) to Children's care 
facility (C2 use) including associated internal alterations 

 

b)   Carisbrooke, 172 Canford Cliffs Road, Poole, BH13 7ES 33 - 72 

 Canford Cliffs Ward 
 
P/25/00170/FUL 

 
Major application for the demolition of existing buildings and erection of a 
single block of 44 apartments, with associated access, basement parking 

and cycle/bin storage; and relocate substation. 

 

 
No other items of business can be considered unless the Chairman decides the matter is urgent for reasons that 
must be specified and recorded in the Minutes.  

 

https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Planning-and-building-control/Planning-policy/Current-Local-Plans/Current-Local-Plan.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Planning-and-building-control/Planning-policy/Current-Local-Plans/Current-Local-Plan.aspx


This page is intentionally left blank



 – 1 – 
 

BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL 
 

WESTERN BCP PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

Minutes of the Meeting held on 09 October 2025 at 10.00 am 
 

Present:- 

Cllr M Le Poidevin – Chair 

Cllr J Clements – Vice-Chair 

 
Present: Cllr A Chapmanlaw, Cllr G Farquhar, Cllr B Hitchcock, Cllr G Martin, 

Cllr K Salmon, Cllr P Sidaway and Cllr T Slade (In place of Cllr J 
Challinor) 

 

 
50. Apologies  

 

Apologies were received from Cllr J Challinor and Cllr S McCormack. 
 

51. Substitute Members  
 

Notification was received that Cllr T Slade was substituting for Cllr J 
Challinor for this meeting. 
 

52. Declarations of Interests  
 

There were none. 
 

53. Confirmation of Minutes  
 

The minutes of the meeting held on 15 September 2025 were confirmed as 

an accurate record to be signed by the Chair. 
 

54. Public Issues  
 

There were a number of requests to speak on the planning application as 

detailed below. 
 

55. Schedule of Planning Applications  
 

The Committee considered a planning application report, a copy of which 

had been circulated and which appears as Appendix A to these minutes in 
the Minute Book.  
 

56. 54 Howeth Road, Bournemouth BH10 5EB  
 

Redhill and Northbourne ward 
 
P-29232-270125 

 
Construction of 3 new dwellings on land to rear of 54 Howell Road. 

 

7

Agenda Item 4



– 2 – 

WESTERN BCP PLANNING COMMITTEE 
09 October 2025 

 
Public Representations 

Objectors 
 Mandy Toms 
 Stacey Eldridge 

 
Applicant/Supporters 

 Matt Holmes, on behalf of the applicant 
 
Ward Councillors 

 Cllr Stephen Bartlett, in objection 
 Cllr Jackie Edwards, in objection 

 
RESOLVED to GRANT permission in accordance with the 
recommendation set out in the officer’s report 

 
Voting: For – 5, Against – 4, Abstain – 0 

 
57. Appeals Report  

 

The Development Management Manager presented a report, a copy of 
which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as 
Appendix 'B' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. The report provided an 

update to the Western Planning Committee on the Local Planning 
Authorities Appeal performance over the stated period.  

 
Whilst the Local Planning Authority (LPA) was performing within target for 
the national measure for the ‘quality of decision making’, it was still 

necessary to review and reflect on appeal decisions in order to provide high 
quality decisions and to avoid the potential for successful cost claims. The 

report provided a summary of the reasons why one appeal (40 Brownsea 
View Avenue, Poole) was allowed in June. It was also noted that one 
appeal was declared as ‘invalid’ by the Inspector, due to the absence of the 

required Biodiversity Net Gain information. 
 
RESOLVED that the Committee notes the contents of the report. 
 

Voting: Agreed with no dissent 

 
 

 
 

The meeting ended at 11.21 am  

 CHAIRMAN 

8



 

1 

PLANNING COMMITTEE - PROTOCOL FOR SPEAKING / 
STATEMENTS AT PLANNING COMMITTEE 
1. Introduction 

1.1 The following protocol facilitates opportunities for applicant(s), objector(s) and 
supporter(s) to express their views on planning applications which are to be 
considered at a Planning Committee meeting.  It does not therefore relate to 
any other item considered at Planning Committee in respect of which public 
speaking/questions shall only be permitted at the discretion of the Chair. 
 

1.2 This protocol is separate from and is not intended to replicate or replace the 
procedure for submitting a written representation on a planning application to 
the Council during the consultation period.  
 

1.3 The email address for any person who wishes to register a request to 
speak and / or submit a statement for the purposes of this protocol or to 
correspond with Democratic Services on any aspect of this protocol is 
democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  

2. Order of presentation of an application 

2.1 The running order in which planning applications are heard will usually follow 
the order as appears on the agenda unless the Planning Committee otherwise 
determines.  

 
2.2 In considering each application the Committee will normally take contributions 

in the following order:  
  

a) presenting officer(s); 
 

b) objector(s); 
 
c) applicant(s) /supporter(s); 
 
d) councillor who has called in an application (who is not a voting member of 

the Planning Committee in relation to that application) / ward councillor(s); 
 
e) questions and discussion by voting members of the Planning Committee, 

which may include seeking points of clarification. 
  

3. Guidance relating to the application of this protocol 

3.1 The allocation of an opportunity to speak / provide a statement to be read out 
at Planning Committee under this protocol is not intended as a guarantee of a 
right to speak / have a statement read out. 

 
3.2 The Chair has absolute discretion as to how this protocol shall be applied in 

respect of any individual application so far as it relates to the conduct of the 

Schedule 4 

 

9

Agenda Item 5

mailto:democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


 

2 

meeting and as provided for in this protocol including whether in any 
circumstance it should be waived, added to or otherwise modified.  This 
discretion includes the opportunity to speak (or submit a statement), varying 
the speaking time allowed and the number of speakers.  In the event of any 
uncertainty as to the interpretation or application of any part of this protocol a 
determination by the Chair will be conclusive. 

 
3.3 A failure to make a request to speak / submit a statement in accordance with 

any one or more of the requirements of this protocol will normally result in the 
request / submission of the statement not being treated as validly made and 
therefore not accepted.  

4. Electronic facilities relating to Planning Committee  

4.1. All electronic broadcasting and recording of a Planning Committee meeting by 
the Council and the provision of an opportunity to speak remotely at such a 
meeting is dependent upon such matters being accessible, operational and 
useable during the meeting.    As a consequence, a meeting other than a wholly 
virtual meeting may proceed, including consideration of all applications relating 
to it, even if it cannot be electronically broadcast, recorded and/or any person 
is unable to speak / be heard at the time when the opportunity to do so on an 
application is made available.  

5. Attending in person at a Planning Committee meeting / wholly 
virtual meetings 

5.1. Unless otherwise stated on the Council’s website and/or the agenda Planning 
Committee will be held as a physical (in person) meeting. A Planning 
Committee meeting will only be held as a wholly virtual meeting during such 
time as a decision has been taken by BCP Council that committee meetings of 
the Council may be held in this way.  In the event of there being a discretion as 
to whether a Planning Committee meeting shall be held as a wholly virtual 
meeting, then the Head of Planning in consultation with the Chair shall be able 
to determine whether such a discretion should be applied. 

6. Provisions for speaking at Planning Committee (whether in 
person or remotely) 

6.1. Any applicant, objector or supporter who wishes to speak at a Planning 
Committee meeting must register a request to speak in writing with Democratic 
Services at democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  by 10.00 am of the 
working day before the meeting. 

6.2. A person registering a request to speak must: 

a)  make clear as to the application(s) on which they wish to speak and 
whether they support or oppose the application; and 
 

b)  provide contact details including a telephone number and/or email address 
at which they can be reached / advised that they have been given an 
opportunity to speak. 

 

10

mailto:democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


 

3 

 

6.3. There will be a maximum combined time of five minutes allowed for any 
person(s) objecting to an application to speak.  A further combined five minute 
maximum will also be allowed for any supporter(s).  Up to two people may 
speak during each of these allotted times (the applicant(s) and any agent for 
the applicant(s) will each count as separate speakers in support).   No speaker 
may speak for more than half this time (i.e. two and a half minutes) unless: 

a) there is no other speaker who has also been allotted to speak for the 
remainder of the five minutes allowed; 

 
b) or the other allotted speaker fails to be present or is unable to be heard (in 

the case of remote speaking), at the Planning Committee meeting at the 
time when the opportunity to speak on the application is made available; or 

 
c) the other allotted speaker expressly agrees to the speaker using more than 

half of the total speaking time allowed. 

6.4. If more than two people seek to register a wish to speak for either side, an 
officer from Democratic Services may ask those seeking the opportunity to 
speak to appoint up to two representatives to address the Planning Committee.  
In the absence of agreement as to representatives, entitlement to speak will 
normally be allocated in accordance with the order when a request was 
received by Democratic Services. However, in the event of an applicant(s) and 
/ or the agent of the applicant(s) wishing to speak in support of an application 
such person(s) will be given the option to elect to speak in preference to any 
other person registered to speak in support. 

6.5. A person registered to speak may appoint a different person to speak on their 
behalf.  The person registered to speak should normally notify Democratic 
Services of this appointment prior to the time that is made available to speak 
on the application. 

6.6. A person may at any time withdraw their request to speak by notifying 
Democratic Services by email or in person on the day of that meeting.  
However, where such a withdrawal is made after the deadline date for receipt 
of requests then the available slot will not be made available for a new speaker. 
In cases where more than two requests to speak within the allocated five 
minutes were received by the deadline, Democratic Services will, where 
practicable, reallocate the slot in date receipt order. 

6.7. During consideration of a planning application at a Planning Committee 
meeting, no question should be put or comment made to any councillor sitting 
on the Planning Committee by any applicant, objector or supporter whether as 
part of a speech or otherwise. 

 
 

 

 

11



 

4 

 

 

7. Questions to person speaking under this protocol 

7.1. Questions will not normally be asked of any person who has been given the 
opportunity to speak for the purpose of this Protocol.  However, the Chair at 
their absolute discretion may raise points of clarification.  

8. Speaking as a ward councillor or other BCP councillor 
(whether in person or remotely) 

8.1. Any ward councillor shall usually be afforded an opportunity to speak on an 
application at the Planning Committee meeting at which it is considered.  Every 
ward councillor who is given the opportunity to speak will have up to five 
minutes each. 

8.2. At the discretion of the Chair, any other councillor of BCP Council not sitting as 
a voting member of the Planning Committee may also be given the opportunity 
to speak on an application being considered at Planning Committee.  Every 
such councillor will have up to five minutes each. 

8.3. Any member of the Planning Committee who has exercised their call in powers 
to bring an application to the Planning Committee for decision should not vote 
on that item but subject to any requirements of the Member Code of Conduct, 
may have or, at the discretion of the Chair, be given the opportunity to speak in 
connection with it as a ward councillor or otherwise in accordance with the 
speaking provisions of this protocol.  Such a member will usually be invited after 
speaking to move themselves from the area where voting members of the 
Planning Committee are sitting and may be requested to leave the room until 
consideration of that application has been concluded. 

9. Speaking as a Parish or Town Council representative 
(whether in person or remotely) 

9.1. A Parish or Town Council representative who wishes to speak as a 
representative of that Parish or Town Council must register as an objector or 
supporter and the same provisions for speaking as apply to any other objector 
or supporter applies to them.   This applies even if that representative is also a 
councillor of BCP Council. 

10. Content of speeches (whether in person or remotely) and use 
of supporting material 

10.1. Speaking must be done in the form of an oral representation.  This should only 
refer to planning related issues as these are the only matters the Planning 
Committee can consider when making decisions on planning applications.  
Speakers should normally direct their points to reinforcing or amplifying 
planning representations already made to the Council in writing in relation to 
the application being considered. Guidance on what constitutes planning 
considerations is included as part of this protocol.  Speakers must take care to 
avoid saying anything that might be libellous, slanderous, otherwise abusive to 

12



 

5 

any person or group, including the applicant, any officer or councillor or might 
result in the disclosure of any personal information for which express consent 
has not been given. 

10.2. A speaker who wishes to provide or rely on any photograph, illustration or other 
visual material when speaking (in person or remotely) must submit this to 
Democratic Services by 12 noon two working days before the meeting. All 
such material must be in an electronic format to be agreed by Democratic 
Services and will usually be displayed on the speaker’s behalf by the presenting 
officer.  The maximum number of slides to be displayed must not exceed five. 
Material provided after this time or in a format not agreed will not be accepted. 
The circulation or display of hard copies of such material at the Planning 
Committee meeting itself will normally not be allowed.  In the interests of 
fairness, any material to be displayed must have already been submitted to and 
received by the Council as part of a representation/submission in relation to the 
application by the date of agenda publication for that Planning Committee 
meeting. 

10.3. The ability to display material on screen is wholly dependent upon the 
availability and operation of suitable electronic equipment at the time of the 
Planning Committee meeting and cannot be guaranteed.  Every person making 
a speech should therefore ensure that it is not dependent on such information 
being displayed.   

11. Remote speaking at Planning Committee 

11.1. In circumstances where the Council has put in place electronic facilities which 
enable a member of the public to be able to speak remotely to a Planning 
Committee meeting, a person may request the opportunity to speak remotely 
via those electronic facilities using their own equipment. In circumstances other 
than a wholly virtual meeting this would be as an alternative to attending the 
meeting in person. The provisions of this protocol relating to speaking at 
Planning Committee shall, unless the context otherwise necessitates, equally 
apply to remote speaking. 

11.2. The opportunity to speak remotely is undertaken at a person’s own risk on the 
understanding that should any technical issues affect their ability to participate 
remotely the meeting may still proceed to hear the item on which they wish to 
speak without their participation. 

11.3. A person attending to speak remotely may at any time be required by the Chair 
or the Democratic Services Officer to leave any electronic facility that may be 
provided. 

12. Non-attendance / inability to be heard at Planning Committee 

12.1. It is solely the responsibility of a person who has been given an opportunity to 
speak on an application at a Planning Committee meeting (whether in person 
or remotely) to ensure that they are present for that meeting at the time when 
an opportunity to speak is made available to them. 

12.2. A failure / inability by any person to attend and speak in person or remotely at 
a Planning Committee meeting at the time made available for that person to 
speak on an application will normally be deemed a withdrawal of their wish to 

13



 

6 

speak on that application.  This will not therefore usually be regarded as a 
reason of itself to defer or prevent an application from being heard. 

12.3. This protocol includes provisions enabling the opportunity to provide a 
statement as an alternative to speaking in person / as a default option in the 
event of a person being unable to speak at the appropriate meeting time.    

13. Submission of statement as an alternative to speaking / for 
use in default 

13.1. A person (including a councillor of BCP Council) who has registered to speak, 
may submit a statement to be read out on their behalf as an alternative to 
speaking at a Planning Committee meeting (whether in person or remotely).  

13.2. Further, any person speaking on an application at Planning Committee may, at 
their discretion, additionally submit a statement which can be read out as 
provided for in this protocol in the event of not being able to attend and speak 
in person or remotely at the time when an opportunity is made available for that 
person to speak on the application.  The person should identify that this is the 
purpose of the statement.   

14. Provisions relating to a statement 

14.1 Any statement submitted for the purpose of this protocol: 

a) must not exceed 450 words in total unless the statement is provided by a 
ward councillor or any other councillor who is not voting on the application 
under consideration in which case the statement may consist of up to 900 
words; 

 
b) must have been received by Democratic Services by 10.00am of the 

working day before the meeting by emailing  
democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  

 
c) when submitted by a member of the public (as opposed to a councillor of 

BCP Council), will be treated as amounting to two and a half minutes of 
the total time allotted for speaking notwithstanding how long it does in fact 
take to read out; 

 
d) must not normally be modified once the deadline time and date for receipt 

of the statement by Democratic Services has passed unless such 
modification is requested by an officer from Democratic Services; and 

 
e) will normally be read out aloud by an officer from Democratic Services 

having regard to the order of presentation identified in this protocol.   
 

14.2 A person who has been given the right to speak and who has submitted a 
statement in accordance with this protocol may at any time withdraw that 
statement prior to it being read out by giving notice to Democratic Services.  
Where such withdrawal occurs after the deadline date for registering a 
request to speak has passed, then a further opportunity for a statement to be 
submitted will not be made available.   If the statement that has been 
withdrawn was submitted as an alternative to speaking, then if the person 

14

mailto:democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


 

7 

withdrawing the statement wishes instead to exercise their opportunity to 
speak in person they should notify Democratic Services on or before the time 
of withdrawing the statement.   

 

15. Assessment of information / documentation / statement 

15.1. BCP Council reserves the right to check any statement and any information / 
documentation (including any photograph, illustration or other visual material) 
provided to it for use at a Planning Committee meeting and to prevent the use 
of such information / documentation in whole or part, in particular, if it: 

a) is considered to contain information of a kind that might be libellous, 
slanderous, abusive to any party including an applicant or might result in 
the disclosure of any personal information for which express consent has 
not been given; and / or 

 
b) is identified as having anything on it that is considered could be an 

electronic virus, malware or similar. 
  

15.2 The Head of Planning in consultation with the Chair shall have the absolute 
discretion to determine whether any such statement / information / 
documentation should not be used / read out in whole or part.  If 
circumstances reasonably permit, Democratic Services may seek to request a 
person modify such statement / information / documentation to address any 
issue identified.   

  

16. Guidance on what amounts to a material planning 
consideration 

16.1. As at the date of adoption of this protocol, the National Planning Portal provides 
the following guidance on material planning considerations: 

 
“A material consideration is a matter that should be taken into account in 
deciding a planning application or on an appeal against a planning decision. 
Material considerations can include (but are not limited to): 

• Overlooking/loss of privacy 
• Loss of light or overshadowing 
• Parking 
• Highway safety 
• Traffic 
• Noise 
• Effect on listed building and conservation area 
• Layout and density of building 
• Design, appearance and materials 
• Government policy 
• Disabled persons' access 
• Proposals in the Development Plan 
• Previous planning decisions (including appeal decisions) 
• Nature conservation 

15



 

8 

However, issues such as loss of view, or negative effect on the value of 
properties are not material considerations.” 

https://www.planningportal.co.uk/faqs/faq/4/what_are_material_considerations
#:~:text=A%20material%20consideration%20is%20a,Loss%20of%20light%20
or%20overshadowing 

Note 
For the purpose of this protocol: 
(a) reference to the “Chair” means the Chair of Planning Committee and shall 

include the Vice Chair of Planning Committee if the Chair is at any time 
unavailable or absent and the person presiding at the meeting of a Planning 
Committee at any time that both the Chair and Vice Chair of Planning 
Committee are unavailable or absent;  

(b) reference to the Head of Planning includes any officer nominated by them for 
the purposes of this protocol and if at any time the Head of Planning in 
unavailable, absent or the post is vacant / ceases to exist, then the 
Development Management Manager or if also unavailable / absent or that post 
is vacant/no longer exists then the next most senior officer in the development 
management team (or any of them if more than one) who is first contactable; 

(c) reference to ‘ward councillor’ means a councillor in whose ward the application 
being considered at a meeting of Planning Committee is situated in whole or 
part and who is not a voting member of the Planning Committee in respect of 
the application being considered; and  

(d) a “wholly virtual meeting” is a Planning Committee meeting where no one 
including officers and councillors physically attend the meeting; however, a 
meeting will not be held as a “wholly virtual meeting” unless legislation permits 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Adopted by the Planning Committee on 17.11.22 and updated on 20.7.23 

16

https://www.planningportal.co.uk/faqs/faq/4/what_are_material_considerations#:%7E:text=A%20material%20consideration%20is%20a,Loss%20of%20light%20or%20overshadowing
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/faqs/faq/4/what_are_material_considerations#:%7E:text=A%20material%20consideration%20is%20a,Loss%20of%20light%20or%20overshadowing
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/faqs/faq/4/what_are_material_considerations#:%7E:text=A%20material%20consideration%20is%20a,Loss%20of%20light%20or%20overshadowing


 

 
 

Planning Committee                                      

 
Application Address 10 Egdon Drive Poole BH21 1TY 

Proposal Proposed change of use from dwelling house (C3 use) to Children's care 
facility (C2 use) including associated internal alterations 

Application Number P/25/01431/FUL 

Applicant Mrs Toni Carr 
Agent Mrs Toni Carr 

Ward and Ward 
Member(s) 

Bearwood & Merley 
 
Cllr Marcus Andrews 
Cllr David Brown 
Cllr Richard Burton   
 

Report Status Public 
 

Meeting Date 6th November 2025  
 

Summary of 
Recommendation 

Grant for the reason(s) set out below 
 
 
 

Reason for Referral to 
Planning Committee 

The Local Planning Authority has received more than 20 letters against 
the proposal.  
 
 
 
 

Case Officer Babatunde Aregbesola 

Is the proposal EIA 
Development?  

No  

 
 
 
Description of Proposal 
 

1. Planning permission is sought for change of use from dwelling house (C3 use) to Children's care 
facility (C2 use). A change of use is required as there will be carers residing at the property on a 
shift basis. No external alterations are proposed. The accommodation would be for 3 children 
(restricted by condition) with primary needs relating learning disabilities and autism.  

 
2. Planning is required as this proposal would fall within Use class C2 (Residential care) where there 

would be 24-hour care for the children on a shift pattern, representing a material change of use from 
Use Class C3 (residential).  
 

 
 

 

17

Agenda Item 6a



 

Description of Site and Surroundings  

 
3. The application site relates to a two storey detached dwellinghouse located on the south-east side 

of Egdon Drive. To the front is a garden part laid in hardstanding for a driveway with low level 
hedgerow as boundary treatment. To the rear is an outdoor amenity area with matured trees within 
it. Vehicular access is taken from Egdon Drive, a cul-de-sac.  
 

4. The property is located within a cul de sac location where similarly aged houses, albeit of a variety 
of design styles, 
 

5. The tree within the rear garden is covered with Tree Protection Order.  
 

Relevant Planning History: 

 
6. None. 

 
Constraints 

 
7. The Trees in the garden fall within a Group Tree Protection Order.  

 

 
Public Sector Equalities Duty 

 

8. In accordance with section 149 Equality Act 2010, in considering this proposal due regard has been 
had to the need to — 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by 
or under this Act; 

 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it; 

 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
persons who do not share it. 

 
Other relevant duties 
 
9. In accordance with regulation 9(3) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 

(as amended) (“the Habitat Regulations), for the purposes of this application, appropriate regard 
has been had to the relevant Directives (as defined in the Habitats Regulations) in so far as they 
may be affected by the determination. 

 

10. For the purposes of section 40 Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, in assessing 
this application, consideration has been given as to any appropriate action to further the “general 
biodiversity objective”. 

 

11. For the purposes of this application, in accordance with section 17 Crime and Disorder Act 1998, 
due regard has been had to, including the need to do all that can reasonably be done to prevent, 
(a) crime and disorder in its area (including anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting the 
local environment); (b) the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in its area; and (c) re-
offending in its area. 
 

12. For the purposes of this report regard has been had to the Human Rights Act 1998, the Human 
Rights Convention and relevant related issues of proportionality. No contraventions have been 
found in the assessment of this application.  
 

 

18



 

Consultations 

 

13. Environmental health – Has no comment.  
 
Highway Officer – The proposal will have no adverse impact on highway safety. Therefore, the 
Highway Authority supports the proposal.  
 
Waste Service – The waste from this premises would be classed as household waste that the 
council has a statutory obligation to collect. However, this type of waste allows for the council to 
recover its collection charges. An alternative would be for the developer to obtain an alternative 
commercial waste collection. The developer can determine the bin size and collection frequency in 
consultation with their chosen waste collection provider. 
 
Tree Officer – There are no proposed changes or alterations to the existing floor plans or layout 
either internally to the property or externally. Therefore, no impacts are expected to tree on or off 
site. 
 

 
Representations 

 
 

14. Site notice was posted outside the site on 12th June 2025 with an expiry date for 3rd July 2025. 

28 representations were received against the proposal on the following grounds: 

 

 Highway safety and inadequate parking space 

 Impact on residential amenity in terms of daylight. 

 Increase in occupancy resulting to substantial increase in noise, rubbish, vehicles, and 

deliveries to the properties, deviating from their intended single-family usage. 

 The proposed conversion would place an undue burden on local services and infrastructure, 

including healthcare services. 

 Detrimental impact on residential character and community stability. 

 Inadequate amenity space and overdevelopment. 

 Development would set a concerning precedent for further HMOs in the area, degrading the 

residential character. 

 Inadequate parking provisions and increased traffic congestion 

 Noise and disturbance to neighbouring properties 

 Overlooking the neighbouring properties garden 

 Breach of human rights, family and private life 

 Development not in keeping with the character of the area 

 Precedent for commercialisation of a residential Area 

 Insufficient operational detail 

 Safety and supervision concerns 

 Lack of local facilities 

 Incorrect details within the application form 

 Lack of experience by the company 

Officers’ comments – 

15. The proposal impact upon health and local services is not a material consideration in the 
determination of this application and is a matter addressed outside of the planning system.  
 

16. In relation to staff and company skills and experience, the children home would be operated and 
managed by a company called Agincare Children’s Services Ltd, a not-for-profit company and is 
intended to be registered with Ofsted. The applicant advises that all staff will be qualified and have 
experience of working with children with disabilities/LD and or other needs. 

 

19



 

17. Concerns have been raised in relation to personal safety and fear of crime or criminal acts. Given 
the small scale of the children’s home, and the presence of on-site carers at all times, it is unlikely 
that there would be criminal or other antisocial behaviour beyond that which could be found in a 
residential property. Regardless, a management plan has been conditioned to require the 
monitoring and management of such behaviour. Issues of noise disturbance and the tipping of 
waste are other matters that would be managed via the conditioned management plan.  
 

18. Several residents raised concerns with regards noise and associated visits to this property by 
emergency services. It is considered that given the relatively small number of occupants along with 
the number of carers in the property, that the occurrence of such issues would be no different from 
that which could occur from a C3 dwelling.   

 
Key Issue(s) 

 
 
19. The key issue(s) involved with this proposal are: 

 Impact on character and appearance 

 Impact on residential amenity of future occupant and neighbouring properties  
 Highway impact 

 
20. These issues will be considered along with other matters relevant to this proposal below. 
 
Policy context 

 
 
21. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that planning applications 

must be determined in accordance with the development plan for an area, except where material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The development plan in this case comprises the… 
 
Planning Policies 
 

Poole Local Plan (Adopted November 2018)  
 
PP01 Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
PP02 Amount and Broad Location of Development  
PP27 Design  
PP28 Flats and Plot Severance  
PP32 Poole’s Nationally, European and Internationally Important Sites 
PP33 Biodiversity and Geodiversity  
PP34 Transport strategy  
PP35 A Safe, Connected and Accessible Transport Network  
PP37 Building Sustainable Homes and Businesses  
PP38 Managing Flood Risk  
PP39 Delivering Poole’s Infrastructure  
 
Supplementary Planning Documents:  
BCP Parking Standards SPD (adopted January 2021)  
The Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 2020-2025 SPD (Adopted March 2020)  
The Dorset Heathlands Interim Air Quality Strategy SPD (2020-2025)  
Nitrogen Reduction in Poole Harbour SPD  
Poole Harbour Recreation 2019-2024 Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
 
 

22. National Planning Policy Framework (“NPPF” / “Framework”) (December 2024) 
 

 
 
 
 

20



 

Planning Assessment  

 
  
Presumption in favour of sustainable development:  
 

23. In terms of meeting housing needs, a strategic objective of the Poole Local Plan is to deliver a wide 
range and mix of homes in the most sustainable locations. Policy PP2 identifies the amount and 
broad locations of development and states that the majority of new housing will be directed to the 
most accessible locations within Poole, these being the town centre, district and local centres and 
locations close to the sustainable transport corridors. A sustainable transport corridor is defined by 
the Poole Local Plan as being 400 metres either side of a road capable of extending service 
provision by the end of the plan period to four buses per hour (each way) or within 500 metres 
radius of a railway station. The intention of this policy is that within these areas the majority of 
higher density development will place a greater number of people within close walking distance of 
public transport and a range of services/facilities as a convenient alternative to use of the car. 
 

24. This approach is reinforced by Policy PP34 which also states that new development will be directed 
to the most accessible locations which are capable of meeting a range of local needs and will help 
to reduce the need for travel, reduce emissions and benefit air quality, whilst PP35 also states that 
proposals for new development will be required to maximise the use of sustainable forms of travel. 
Significant weight therefore must be applied to the provision of additional residential 
accommodation which meets these policy objectives. 
 

25. In this instance, the proposal represents a form of development located within the sustainable 
transport corridor as identified by Policy PP2 and indicated on the Proposals Map, being located in 
a highly sustainable location in very close proximity to the local services and facilities and with 
access to the high frequency public transport service stops (bus stations), where the majority of 
housing and higher density development should be directed. 
 

26. The proposal would result in the loss of a single C3 dwelling house but would provide a C2 live in 
care facility to house children with special needs.  
 

27. The Council cannot currently demonstrate a 5-year supply of deliverable sites for housing. 
Furthermore, the results of the latest Housing Delivery Test, published in December 2024, confirm 
that an insufficient number of homes have been built in the Poole area over recent years. As a 
result of the shortfall, policies related to the location and supply of housing are deemed to be out of 
date. In such circumstances, Paragraph 11d and footnote 8 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (the Framework) require that permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts 
of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the Framework as a whole. It is accepted that the loss of a dwelling would have moderate 
harm upon the range of housing stock.  

 

28. There is an acute shortage and need for this provision within BCP, - there are only 4 beds within 
BCP and a rising cohort of 17 who could be placed within BCP if there was more registered 
provision. However, it is not guaranteed that the accommodation could be used to address needs 
within BCP specifically. The Permission being sought is not personal or specifically tied to provision 
within BCP. The provider, Agincare are not currently on the framework to provide accommodation 
for children with such needs within BCP but are seeking to apply for one, and there is a working 
relationship between the provider and the BCP in respect of BCP sufficiency need.  
 

29. This provider will offer specialist residential care for children who have a disability and are open to 
our Child Health and Disability Team.   
 

Impact on the character and appearance of the area and conservation area  

21



 

 

30. Policy PP27 of the Poole Local Plan (2018) states that development will be permitted where it 
reflects or enhances local patterns of development in terms of layout, height, scale, massing, 
materials, landscaping and visual impact. 
 

31. The proposal involves a change of use of the building from single dwelling house to Children's care 
facility (C2 use) with no changes to the external façade of the building. The character of the area is 
presented by an array of detached dwellings fronting the Egdon Drive.   
 

32. Egdon Drive is a cul-de-sac comprising mostly residential properties with an active frontage.   
 

33. With regards to impact on the street scene, no extension of the existing footprint or built form are 
proposed on site. As such, the development will not give rise any harm to the visual amenity of the 
area. Therefore, the proposal will preserve the character and appearance of the building and area. 
 

34. The existing outdoor amenity area to the rear of the building is of good size that can comfortably 
accommodate the number of occupants proposed without any detrimental effect to the wellbeing of 
the future occupier. The existing garden area to the rear is laid to lawn with few trees within the 
garden space. The proposal would not result to removal of any tree on site without express planning 
permission from the Local Planning Authority. The proposed scheme would not intensify the use of 
the site, neither placing greater demand on the available space. 
 

35. The potential increase in bins requirement for the additional two bedrooms and cycle store within 
the site is not considered to result in a disproportionate demand of space that would result in a 
cramped and incongruous scheme that would cause adverse harm to the visual amenity and setting 
of the conservation area that warrant the application be refused in this instance.  
 

36. With regard to capacity, the building would continue to be a four-bedroom dwelling that would host 
up to three children from the age 8 years plus and two residential staff members, which in terms of 
numbers, would not be materially different to the property’s current lawful use as a dwellinghouse. 
There would therefore be up to four people in the house for the majority of the time, which would 
potentially increase to six at times of changeover and could similarly increase at various times whilst 
visits from social workers and other support professionals take place, though this would be short 
and infrequent. 
 

37. With regard to comings and goings, the applicant’s supporting planning statement notes that shifts 
would last 24 or 48 hours, with one or two members of staff present overnight and handover time 
would be around 8 or 9am. Day to day trips would include activities such as shopping, school runs 
and social outings for the children would be undertaken by the carers.  
 

38. It is accepted there would likely be additional movements of adults entering and leaving the site 
than many dwellings in a C3 Use Class. However, the way the children would use the home is 
unlikely to be materially different to that of a C3 dwellinghouse. 
 

39. The proposed use with associated domestic paraphernalia of the building for children's care facility 
will not adversely impact the setting and character of the area. As such, the proposed use of the 
building as Children's care facility would not have any material impact upon the character of Egdon 
Road. The use of the building for the proposed use would preserve the character and appearance 
of the dwelling. Therefore, the proposal accords with Poole Local Plan PP27 and advice within the 
NPPF. 
 

22



 

Impact on Neighbouring Residential Amenity  
 

40. Poole Local Plan Policy PP27 expects that all forthcoming developments are required to have a 
good standard of design. Sub section C of the policy requires proposals to be compatible with the 
surrounding uses and should not prejudice and result in a harmful impact on neighbouring 
residential amenity when considering levels of sunlight/daylight, privacy, noise and whether the 
development is overbearing or oppressive.  
 

41. With regards to the proposal to use the site as Children's care facility (C2 use) with 3 occupants’ 
bedrooms. The use would be solely residential in character. The intended occupancy of the dwelling 
is not considered to result in a significant intensification that would be harmful to the amenities of 
neighbouring properties and introduces a use that would be appropriate within a residential location. 

 

42. Furthermore, the proposed use of the building as Children's care facility (C2 use) with 3 occupants’ 
bedrooms could not be fairly anticipated to lead to the introduction of unacceptable noise to the 
detriment of neighbouring living conditions. While there might be some noise disturbance from 
children, this could equally be the same if the site remained a family home. I am also of a view that 
given staff on site working a regular pattern the disturbance from noise pollution is likely to be 
limited. 

 

43. It is considered that the proposed bedrooms would meet the minimum space standards for single 
person occupancy, it is clear from the submitted plans that an acceptable standard of living 
conditions would be achieved without harm to the amenities of future occupiers, with a sufficient 
space to achieve basic living conditions. Adequate outdoor amenity space is provided for the new 
Children's care facility (C2 use), in accordance with the provisions of PP27(1-d) of Poole Local Plan. 

 

44. As such, it is considered that the proposed scheme would accord with the provisions of Policy 
PP27d of the Poole Local Plan. Overall, the proposal by reason of its design and room layout/design 
would provide adequate and quality accommodation that would for future occupiers and therefore 
accord to Policy PP27. 

 

Impact on highways and parking 
 

45. The proposal would utilise existing access and parking arrangements. There is already a dropped 
kerb crossing allowing vehicle access to the site from Egdon Drive.  

 

46. The retention of the existing car parking would meet Parking Standards SPD (2021) guidelines. 
Having been consulted, highway officer advised that the proposal would have no adverse impact on 
highway safety.  Therefore, the Highway Authority supports the proposal. 

 

47. From the evidence provided there would be up to 7 carers (sharing the workload) and 3 carers 
working at a time within the proposed care home on different shift patterns. It is also accepted that 
there could be other services arriving at the site. While it is accepted that these people might be 
commuting into the Borough, this is no different to a large proportion of jobs. In addition, I have no 
evidence to suggest that the carers would only be able to access the site via unsustainable methods 
of transport or that carers could not be employed locally. 

 

48. Having been consulted, highway authority advised that the development would have no impact on 
highway safety. Therefore, highway authority supports the proposal.  

 
49. Therefore, the scheme is considered acceptable from highway perspective and development would 

not compromise highway safety. On this issue, it is concluded that the proposal would not lead to 

23



 

unsustainable transport movements. On this basis, the proposal complies with Policies PP34 & 
PP35 of Poole Local Plan and BCP Parking Standards, which seek to ensure sustainable transport 
movements. 

 

Waste collection considerations  
 

50. With regards to refuse and recycling provision, Policy PP27 (g) of the Poole Local Plan states that, 
amongst other criteria, development must provide convenient waste and recycling arrangements in 
accordance with the relevant standards.  

 

51. The proposal relates to a single dwellinghouse to be converted to a Children's care facility (C2 use) 
with associated amenities within the site.  
 

52. Whilst the proposed scheme does not provide any details of the location of the individual bins for the 
new HMO on site, there is an expectation that these could be accommodated within the curtilage of 
the dwelling in a manner that would not give rise to any additional conflicts with highway and/or 
pedestrian safety. The waste from this premises would be classed as household waste that the 
council has a statutory obligation to collect. However, this type of waste allows for the council to 
recover its collection charges. An alternative would be for the developer to obtain an alternative 
commercial waste collection. The developer can determine the bin size and collection frequency in 
consultation with their chosen waste collection provider. 
 

53. Having been consulted, Waste service raised no objection against the proposal.  
 

Sustainability considerations  
 

54. Being an existing building, it would be more challenging to deliver an energy efficient and   
sustainable development in accordance with the requirements of the latest Building Regulations. 
Moreso, the habitable rooms within the building would have access to daylight and therefore limiting 
the need to use artificial light which would accord to the aims of policy PP37 of Poole Local Plan. 
 
BNG 
 

55. Biodiversity net gain is required under a statutory framework introduced by Schedule 7A of the 
Town  and Country Planning Act 1990 (inserted by the Environment Act 2021). Under the statutory 
 framework for biodiversity net gain, subject to some exceptions, every grant of planning permission 
 is deemed to have been granted subject to the condition that the biodiversity gain objective is met 
 

56. The Planning Practice Guidance (the PPG) advises that the biodiversity gain condition does not  
 apply to, amongst others, development subject to the de minimis exemption.  
 

57. Given the nature of the proposed development, it is considered that impact would be less than 25 
 square metres and on less than 5 metres of linear habitat. Therefore, no on-site habitat that would 
be loss or degraded because of the proposed development. 
 

Planning Balance / Conclusion 

 

58. The scale of the occupancy and the number of staff on shift at one time would not be materially 
different from the occupancy expected of a dwelling of this size. The house and its curtilage would 
retain the look and character of neighbouring houses; that of a normal residential dwelling. 
 

24



 

59. The vehicle movements expected from this use, given the limited occupancy would not me 

materially different from that of a dwellinghouse.  

 

60. The loss of a C3 dwelling would result in modest harm to the Council’s Housing Land supply, 

however, such harm would be overcome through the provision of specialised housing that would 

help to address  the identified shortfall outlined in the BCP Sufficiency Strategy. 

 

61. The development proposed is not likely to give rise to highway safety concerns due to its scale and 

nature of use. Sufficient parking space will be available on site.  

 

 

62. The proposed scheme based on the plan contain sympathetic elements that would preserve and 

enhance the character and appearance of the subject property and the wider area. The proposed 

accommodation, considered as a whole, provides suitable living conditions for all occupants . 

 
 
Recommendation 

 
 

63. Grant, subject to the following conditions: 
 

  

 
Conditions 

 
1. The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than the expiration of three years beginning 

with the date this permission is granted. 
  
 Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall only be carried out in accordance with the following approved 

plans:  
 Location Plan received 15/05/2025 
 Block Plan received 15/05/2025 
 Site Plan received 15/05/2025 
 Existing Floor Plans (No Changes) received 15/05/2025 
 Planning statement received 15/05/2025 
  
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.  
 
3.      The use hereby approved shall accommodate a maximum of 3 children (under the age of 18) and 3 

carers within the site at any one time (subject to staff change over and other cross over times) and 
this arrangement shall be retained as such for the life of the development. 

 
4.      Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 2015 (as 

amended) the property shall be used solely for the purposes of a children's home, as defined by 
Class C2 of that legislation, and for no other purposes whatsoever. Proposals to use the property for 
any other purpose within that class shall not take place unless a separate formal planning application 
has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
5.       a management plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

which deals with the operation of the use and how staff and visitors will be managed at the site. The 
management plan could include measures such as staggering staff changeovers and implementing 
appointment systems to ensure that staff or professionals do not attend simultaneously, thus 
preventing undue disturbance or parking issues. The management plan shall also include details of 
the manager(s) at the care home to ensure that residents can contact those individuals to address 

25



 

any concerns they may have with the operation of the use. The management plan shall be 
implemented, updated when required and retained for the life of the development. 

 
 
 
 
Informatives:  
 

1. In accordance with paragraph 39 of the revised NPPF the Council, as Local Planning Authority, takes 
a positive, creative and proactive approach to development proposals focused on solutions. The 
Council works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by offering a pre-application 
advice service, and as appropriate updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application and where possible suggesting solutions. In this instance: 

  
 The application was acceptable as submitted and no further assistance was required. 
 
2. Subject to the Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970 the applicant should note and inform 

future residents of the approved scheme that they may be excluded by the Council from being able to 
purchase on-street residents parking permit or visitors parking permits in the locality of the site. This is 
to reduce the transport impacts from the development due to the low levels of car parking provision 
being proposed. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Background Documents: 

 
 

Documents uploaded to that part of the Council’s website that is publicly accessible and specifically 
relates to the application the subject of this report including all related consultation responses, 

representations and documents submitted by the applicant in respect of the application. 
 
Notes. 

This excludes all documents which are considered to contain exempt information for the purposes 
of Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972. 

 
Reference to published works is not included 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Case Officer Report Completed 
Officer: BAR 
Date: 27/10/2025 
 
Agreed by: Katie Herrington 

26



 

Date:  27/10/2025 
Comment: 
 
 

27



This page is intentionally left blank

28



 

 

29



 

 

 

 

30



 

 

31



This page is intentionally left blank

32



Planning Committee   
Application Address Carisbrooke, 172 Canford Cliffs Road, Poole, BH13 

7ES 

Proposal Major application for the demolition of existing buildings 

and erection of a single block of 44 apartments, with 
associated access, basement parking and cycle/bin 
storage; and relocate substation 

Application Number P/25/00170/FUL 

Applicant 172 CCR Ltd, C/O Chapman Lily Planning Ltd 

Agent Clare Spillar, Chapman Lily Planning Ltd 

Ward Canford Cliffs 

 

Cllr John Challinor 

Cllr Gavin Wright 

Report Status Public 

Meeting date 6 November 2025 

Recommendation Grant in accordance with the details set out in the report, 
subject to an agreed legal agreement and conditions 

Reason for Referral to 
Planning Committee  

out of character with the surrounding area.  

Potential conflicts with the Local Plan.  

Negative impact on the amenity of the residents. 

incongruous to the general street scene.  

Detrimental effect on protected trees.  

Loss of light to neighbouring property.  

Case Officer Darren Henry 

Is the proposal EIA 
Development?  

No  

 
 
Description of Development 
 

1. This application is submitted in full and seeks consent for the demolition of existing buildings 
and the erection of a single block of 44 apartments, over seven floors (including basement) 
with associated access, basement parking and cycle/bin storage (and the relocation of the 

existing substation). 
 

 
Key Issues 
 

2. The main considerations involved with this application are: 
  

 Impact on character and appearance of the area 

33

Agenda Item 6b



 Impact on neighbouring amenity 

 Living conditions of occupants 

 Provision of affordable housing 

 Highway safety and parking 

 Biodiversity net gain 

 Ecology 

 Waste 

 Flooding & Drainage 

 Impact on Heathlands 

 Community Infrastructure Levy 

 
3. These points will be discussed as well as other material considerations below. 

 
 
Planning Policies 

 
4. Poole Local Plan (Adopted 2018) 

 

 PP01: Presumption in favour of sustainable development  

 PP02: Amount and broad location of development  

 PP07: Facilitating a step change in Housing Delivery 

 PP08: Type and mix of housing 

 PP09: Urban allocations outside the town centre 

 PP11: Affordable housing 

 PP27: Design  

 PP27: Design PP29 Tall buildings 

 PP30: Heritage 

 PP32 Poole's important sites 

 PP33: Biodiversity and geodiversity  

 PP34: Transport strategy  

 PP35: A safe, connected and accessible transport network 

 PP36: Safeguarding strategic transport schemes  

 PP37: Building sustainable homes and businesses 

 PP38: Managing flood risk 

 PP39: Delivering Poole’s infrastructure  

 PP40: Viability  

 
5. Supplementary Planning Documents: 

 

 BCP Council Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document.  

 Dorset Council The Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 2020-2025, Supplementary 

Planning Document.  

 Borough Of Poole Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document (Adopted 

November 2011).  

 Borough of Poole Poole Harbour Recreation Supplementary Planning Document (2020). 

 Borough of Poole Nitrogen Reduction in Poole Harbour Supplementary Planning 

Document (2015).  
  

 
6. The National Planning Policy Framework (2024) 

 

 In addition to local policies, the National Planning Policy Framework is also a material 
consideration. The NPPF sets out the Government’s objective of significantly boosting 

34



the supply of homes. Paragraph 70 recognises the important role small and medium sized 
sites can make in contributing to meeting the housing requirement of an area and are 

often built out relatively quickly. This goes on to encourage LPAs to support the 
development of windfall sites through their decisions and give great weight to the benefits 

of using suitable sites within existing settlements for homes.  
 

 Paragraph 11 sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable development. Plans and 

policies should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For decision 
taking this means:  

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan 
without delay; or  
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 

important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:  
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or  
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.  

 

 Some objections, as set out below, stated that there are already too many unsold flats. 

However, Council data and evidential information from BCP Council’s Housing Land 
Supply Statement January 2025 Land-Supply-Position-Statement.pdf shows the 

Council’s housing land supply, against a 5-year requirement, is only 2.1 years, including 
a 20% buffer (a shortfall of 10,397 homes). For the purposes of para 11 of the NPPF, it is 

therefore appropriate to regard relevant housing policies as out of date as we are unable 

to demonstrate a five-year supply of homes. Consequently, the ‘tilted balance’ may apply 
to the proposal and, if so, a Planning Balance discussion would be set out at the end of 

the report.  
 
 
Relevant Planning Applications and Appeals: 

 

7. APP /24/00823/R. Reserved matters application following outline permission APP/21/01719/P 
for Appearance and landscaping. Approved on the 30th of October 2024. 

 

8. APP/21/01719/P. Outline application for the demolition of existing buildings and erection of a 
single block of apartments, with associated access, basement parking and cycle/bin storage; 

and relocate substation (to determine layout, scale and access). Approved on the 4th of August 
2022. 

 

9. APP/19/01569/F - Demolition of existing buildings and erection of assisted living/extra care 
accommodation (class C2) with communal facilities and car parking. Approved on the 10th of 

June 2021. 
 
 
Public Sector Equalities Duty   
 

10. In accordance with section 149 Equality Act 2010, in considering this proposal due regard 
has been had to the need to — 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 

prohibited by or under this Act; 

 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 

and persons who do not share it. 
 

35

https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Assets/Planning-and-building-control/Land-Supply-Position-Statement.pdf


Other relevant duties 
 

11. With regard to sections 28G and 28I (where relevant) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, 
to the extent consistent with the proper exercise of the function of determining this application 

and that this application is likely to affect the flora, fauna or geological or physiographical 
features by reason of which a site is of special scientific interest, the duty to take reasonable 
steps to further the conservation and enhancement of the flora, fauna or geological or 

physiographical features by reason of which the site is of special scientific interest.  
 

12. In accordance with section 40 Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, in 
considering this application, regard has been had, so far as is consistent with the proper 
exercise of this function, to the purpose of conserving biodiversity. 

 

13. For the purposes of this application, in accordance with section 17 Crime and Disorder Act 

1998, due regard has been had to, including the need to do all that can reasonably be done to 
prevent, (a) crime and disorder in its area (including anti-social and other behaviour adversely 
affecting the local environment); (b) the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in its 

area; and (c) re-offending in its area. 
 

14. For the purposes of this report regard has been had to the Human Rights Act 1998, the Human 
Rights Convention and relevant related issues of proportionality. 

 

15. In accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as inserted by 
Schedule 14 of the Environment Act 2021), for the purposes of this application, regard has 

been had to deliver a minimum of 10% biodiversity net gain above the baseline habitat 
provision to ensure that the development site will result in a measurably better state than it 
was before the development.  

 
 
Representations 
 

16. Site notices were posted in the vicinity of the site on three occasions during the assessment 

of the application due to amendments to the scheme. The original site notice was posted on 
the 10th of April 2025 with an expiry of the 3rd of May 2025 and advertised in the Bournemouth 

Echo on the 21st of March 2025.  
 
17. Eleven letters of objection have been received, stating the following summarised reasons for 

objecting: 

 Concern with Height, Scale, Massing and Visual Impact  

 Highway safety concerns (small roundabout nearby; increased traffic 

 Impact on local infrastructure (local services over subscribed – doctors, dentists schools_ 

 Too many apartments, many of which unsold.  

 Overlooking, noise and disturbance, too close to Chetwynd 

 Loss of daylight and sunlight 

 Noise disturbance  

 Contrary to planning policy  

 
 

Consultations 

 
18. Biodiversity Net Gain—No objection subject to conditions relating to LEMP and HMMP and 

monitoring fees, as set out in the s106 legal agreement. 
 

19. Dorset Police—No objection. 

 

36

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/30/schedule/14/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/30/schedule/14/enacted


20. Dorset and Wiltshire Fire & Rescue—No objection. 
 

21. Ecology/Biodiversity Officer—No objection, subject to conditions. 
 

22. Highways Authority—No objection subject to conditions. 
 

23. LLFA / FCERM—No objection subject to conditions. 

 
24. Natural England—Further information on the details of the permanent mitigation measures that 

will be applied to secure nitrogen neutrality for the development is required. 
 
25. National Health Service—Request planning contributions to maintain local health care 

services. Officer Comment: This request seeks a contribution towards the cost of building 
works to provide room capacity. In considering whether the Local Planning Authority can 

secure such contributions, it must ensure that such contributions meet the ‘6 tests’ that such 
contribution is; necessary to address the impact of the development; relevant to planning; 
relevant to the development; enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other aspects. Officers 

are considering whether or not the request for contributions meet such test, and will provide 
an update in the committee update sheet. However, it is considered that it would be unlikely 

that such contribution would pass this test, as no surgery and no building project has been 
identified to which such funds would contribute to.  

 

26. Tree Officer—Objection. 
 

27. Urban Design Officer—No objection.  
 
28. Waste Collection Authority Officer—No objection. 

 
 
Constraints 

 
29. Tree Preservation Orders. 

 
 
Planning Assessment 

 
Site and Surroundings 

 
30. The site is currently occupied by two detached towers containing private apartments. The tower 

to the north is four-storeys, whilst the tower to the south is five-storeys in height. Detached 
garages occupy the south-east corner of the site, with a further group of garages linking the 
towers. The buildings are of red brick with extensive glazing, under flat roofs.  

 
31. The buildings lie on the high ground along the western side of Canford Cliffs Road. The ground 

here slopes southwards quite steeply and parts of the site drop away sharply to the west. This 
slope is densely wooded with evergreen trees. There are no short-length views to the site from 
the west, and longer-distance ones are still dominated by the broad swathe of woodland on 

the hill slope from Compton Acres southwards to and past the site. 
 

32. Whilst not located along a Sustainable Transport Corridor, the site is nonetheless a short walk 
of 200m from Canford Village. Within 100m of the site there are bus stops along Canford Cliffs 
Road and Haven Road. 

 
33. The site is 0.78ha in size, however, mirroring what can currently be seen on the site as well as 

previously approved applications on the site, the built form is limited to the eastern side of the 

37



site, with the rear or the development remaining landscaped with trees protected by Tree 
Preservation Order ref: TPO/19/00001. The front boundary of the site is well landscaped with 

trees and scrub. These create substantial screening to the site with broken views of the 
buildings. 

 
34. To the south is Imbrecourt Housing Estate to the south, which largely consists of bungalows. 

In between the bungalows and the application site the area is landscaped with mature trees, 

providing a buffer zone. To the east the site boarders Canford Cliffs Road, whilst to the north 
of the, many of the buildings are larger in scale than usual when compared to typical residential 

areas, with the majority of buildings being flats which continues to the south along Haven Road. 
This part of Canford Cliffs is characterised by blocks of flats glimpsed behind heavi ly 
landscaped frontages.  

 
35. Directly to the north of the development is Chetwynd, 170 Canford Cliffs Road, which is a 5-

storey development consisting of flats. To the immediate north of Chetwynd is Compton Acres, 
a Grade II* Park and Garden. There are no other heritage assets nearby that would be affected 
by the proposed development. To the west of the development, the site borders Luscombe 

Valley Nature Reserve, which is abundantly covered with trees and vegetation. Further west is 
Parkstone Golf Course, where site levels noticeably drop.  

 
36. Canford Cliffs Village Conservation area is located to the north and east of the site and is 

separated by intervening build form. 

 
Principle of the Proposal 

 
37. The Poole Local Plan sets out a spatial planning framework to meet objectively assessed 

needs to 2033. In accordance with Policy PP01, the Council will take a positive approach when 

considering development proposals that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development contained in the NPPF. In terms of meeting housing needs, a strategic objective 

of the Poole Local Plan is to deliver a wide range and mix of homes in the most sustainable 
locations. Objections, however, have been received with concerns that there are already too 
many unsold flats in the area. However, the Council’s Housing Land Supply Statement data 

shows that there is a significant housing shortfall in the Borough equating to 10,397 homes.  
Furthermore, the Dorset & BCP Housing Needs Assessment (November 2021) identifies that 

the percentage of flats in the BCP area is 37.6%, whereas for Dorset it is 15.6%. Both regionally 
and nationally, the percentage of flats is also significantly lower (19% and 21.6% respectively). 
Such data shows there is a demand in the Borough for flats. Furthermore, most of the flats are 

2-bedrooms (54%). Moreover, flats are also good form of lower cost homes and an entry point 
into the housing market.  

 

38. The proposal is for 44 flats, of which 26 are to be 3-bedrooms (59%), 16 (36.4%) are to be 2-

bedromms and 2 (4.6%) are to be 4-bedrooms. As such, it is considered that the proposal 

would provide a good mix of sizes suitable for couples and small families. 
 

39. Policy PP02 identifies the amount and broad locations of development and states that the 
majority of new housing will be directed to the most accessible locations within Poole, notably 

the town centre, district and local centres and locations close to the sustainable transport 
corridors.  

 

40. This approach is reinforced by Policy PP34 which also states that new development will be 
directed to the most accessible locations which are capable of meeting a range of local needs 

and will help to reduce the need for travel, reduce emissions and benefit air quality, whilst PP35 
also states that proposals for new development will be required to maximise the use of 
sustainable forms of travel. Significant weight therefore has to be applied to the provision of 

additional residential accommodation which meets these policy objectives.  

38



 
41. The application site is located in a sustainable location, approximately 200m to Canford Village, 

with all its facilities and services, with bus stops near the site on Canford Cliffs Road and Haven 
Road.  

 
42. Furthermore, the existing character of the area is mixed, consisting of flatted multi -storey 

developments, bungalows and large houses. Of particular note is the fact that there is already 

residential development on site and there is an approved flatted development scheme that is 
extant and prior to that a scheme for assisted living/extra care accommodation (class C2) with 

communal facilities and car parking was granted. As such, the principle of development is 
supported by Policies PP01, PP02 and PP34. 

 

 
Planning Assessment 

 

Impact on character and appearance of the area 
 

43. “The creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to 
what the planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of 

sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make 
development acceptable to communities” (NPPF paragraph 131) and where design fails to 
provide good design, the development should be refused (paragraph 139). 

 
44. Policy PP27 of the Poole Local Plan seeks to ensure that all new development achieves a 

good standard of design which for the purposes of the Plan is defined as development that 
functions well, fits in with and enhances an area’s character within its context. In this regard, 
the development should generally follow the scale, form, massing, appearance and use of 

materials are used to create a cohesive development that integrates positively within its 
surroundings.  

 
44. The site is approximately 80m away from Canford Village Conservation Area at its nearest 

point, where the junction between Haven Road and De Mauley Road forms the south-west 

corner of the CA. Along Canford Cliffs Road, the nearest part of the CA is 150m to the south 
of the site. The CA contains a small commercial core along Haven Road between Elmstead 

Road and Ravine Road. Compton Acres Grade II* Registered Park & Garden is approximately 
90m to the north of the northern tower, in between which is Chetwynd Court block of flats. 
Elsewhere, the area is predominantly residential, with a mix of flats in multi-storey towers of 

four-and-five storeys, bungalows and large detached dwellings.   
 

45. The nearest property to the north is Chetwynd Court, a five-storey tower block of apartments 
built during the late 1960s early 1970s, whilst to the south is a housing estate, known as 
Imbrecourt, comprised of bungalows developed between the 1970s and 1990s. Between the 

application site and the bungalows mature trees and vegetation provide a deep screen. Past 
the roundabout with Haven Road there is an assisted living development with larger detached 

houses beyond. The entire area is characterised by substantial modern building within 
extensive mature tree cover, serving to both frame and screen buildings.  

 

46. The proposed building is orientated to face the eastern frontage of Canford Cliffs Road and 
the access is proposed to the northeast, as existing. Meanwhile the substantial grounds to the 

rear would remain untouched and would leave a high-quality amenity space for future 
residents. The existing substation is to be relocated along the southern edge of the site in a 
discrete location behind mature vegetation, whist at the same time being suitably placed for 

future maintenance and access. Drawing 707 Rev C shows planting in the form of a hedge 
around the bin store to provide screening, with the existing boundary wall to the front being 

retained. 

39



 
47. Most of the objections related to the scale of the proposal. However, the development would 

not exceed the height parameters set by the previously approved schemes. As with the extant 
permission, the building would continue to inset the upper floors, thereby reducing the overall 

bulk from the outer edges, with the bulk mainly directed to the centre of the building. 
Additionally, the integration of recessed elements and changes in textures/materials and 
curved balconies provide continuity in the design and appearance and further break-up the 

bulk of the building, with the balconies giving an attractive horizontal emphasis and a refined 
finish. 

 
48. As previously stated, the local character is mixed and not defined by any one overriding 

architectural style or materials. Indeed the one overriding style is arguably the variation of 

styles and materials in the locality, whether that be rendered properties alongside different 
shades of brick or stone and wooden cladding, all of which give a range of textures and mix of 

colours in the street scene. Various roof forms can also be seen, for example pitches, hips and 
flat roofs, and roofs with dormers.  

 

49. The proposed block of flats provides and acceptable scale of development, which would be of 
a lower height than recently approved schemes, which would have an acceptable appearance. 

Whilst it is acknowledged that the proposal would be taller than any other nearby buildings, the 
significant landscaping along boundaries and within sites prevents the building from 
dominating the street scene. 

 
50. The proposal makes an efficient use of urban land that will deliver much needed two, three 

and 4-bedroom homes that fit well with the character and appearance of the locality and the 
surrounding sylvan character, which would be within  convenient access to local facilities and 
services. 

 
51. It is considered that the development would generally reflects and enhances the street scene 

with regards to layout and siting, including building line and site coverage; height and scale 
and visual impact, and is in accordance with Policy PP27. 

 

 
Impact on Residential Amenity  

 
52. Policy PP27 outlines that development should not result in a harmful impact upon amenity for 

local residents or future occupiers in terms of overshadowing, loss of light, loss of privacy and 

whether the development is overbearing or oppressive. 
 

53. The nearest neighbours are to the north at Chetwynd Court and the bungalows to the 
southwest at Imbrecourt. 

 

Chetwynd Court, 170 Canford Cliffs Road  
 

54. The application proposal sits slightly behind the west (rear) elevation of the extant approval by 
0.5m, whilst the north (side) elevation sits approximately 1.3m further north of the extant 
permission.  

 
55. The proposed amended plans mark-up windows on the side (north elevation) to be obscure 

glazed to prevent any overlooking to side windows serving the flats on the south elevation of 
Chetwynd Court. The amened plans also show rear balconies with 1.8m high obscured glazed 
side screens to prevent overlooking to Chetwynd Court, including the rear balconies and roof 

terrace, to the flats closest to the application building. Therefore, the privacy and amenity of 
the flats with windows on the south elevation will be preserved. The full height windows on the 

side (south) elevation of Chetwynd are sited in the back corner of the building and are 

40



secondary windows to a ‘sun-room’ with the main outlook to the rear and served by a balcony. 
These windows to the sun-rooms on the south elevation are obscure glazed. In any case, the 

proposed amendments to the plans include obscure glazing to the north facing windows, along 
with privacy screens, as shown on Drawings 9491 / 703 Rev D and 9491 / 704 Rev E. 

 
56. Given the small variation in the siting of the building and the introduction of obscured glazing 

and privacy screens, it is considered that the impact on the amenities of the occupants of no. 

170 Canford Cliffs, would not be materially different to the extant approval. 
 

Bungalows at Imbrecourt 
 
57. With regards to Imbrecourt, there will be a gap of approximately 24.5m between the nearest 

bungalow and the proposed ground to third floor floors. The fourth and fifth floors are also set 
back away from Imbrecourt by a further 4.8m to the (29.3m in all), the same separation distance 

as the extant permission but a storey lower. Furthermore, there is a distinctive tree line which 
creates a buffer zone between the bungalows and the proposed development. This is deemed 
acceptable for the development. 

 
52. Given the extant permission, the privacy measures incorporated into the development and the 

significant number of trees between buildings, it is considered that there will be no loss of 
privacy or overlooking or sense of closure between the proposal and neighbouring buildings. 
As such, the proposal is in accordance with Policy PP27.  

 
 
Internal and External Space Standards  

 
53. The Government’s Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS) “sets out requirements for 

the Gross Internal (floor) Area of new dwellings at a defined level of occupancy and is a useful 
benchmark in respect of the size of accommodation. 

 
54. Please also note that the NDSS has nine Technical Requirements. The most relevant of which 

to this application are the following: 

a.  the dwelling provides at least the gross internal floor area and built-in storage area set 
out in Table 1 below.  

b.  a dwelling with two or more bedspaces has at least one double (or twin) bedroom.  
c.  in order to provide one bedspace, a single bedroom has a floor area of at least 7.5sqm 

and is at least 2.15sqm wide.  

d.  in order to provide two bedspaces, a double (or twin bedroom) has a floor area of at least 
11.5sqm 

 
Table 1: Minimum gross internal floor areas and storage (sqm) (Table derived from the 

Technical housing standards – nationally described space standard) 
Number of Bedrooms Number of bed 

spaces 

1-storey dwelling Built-in storage 

2 3P 61 2.0 

4P 70 

3 4P 74 2.5 

5P 86 

6P 95 

4 5P 90 3.0 

6P 99 

7P 108 

8P 117 

 

 

41



55. Policy PP27 states that “Development will be permitted provided that, where relevant, it:  
(d) provides satisfactory external and internal amenity space for both new and any existing 

occupiers”. 
 

56. The Nationally Described Space Standards state that for a 2-bedroom 1-storey property 
suitable for four people, there should be a minimum of 70 sqm. For a single-storey three-
bedroom property suitable for four people, there should be a minimum floor area of 74sqm. 

This increases to 86 sqm for five people and to 95 sqm for six people. For a four-bedroom 
single-storey dwelling suitable for eight people, a minimum floor area of 117 sqm is required. 

 
57. Double bedrooms should have a minimum floor area of 11.5sqm and single bedrooms should 

have a minimum floor area of 7.5sqm. Also, a dwelling with two or more bedspaces should 

have, as minimum, one double (or twin) bedroom. 
 

58. The proposal is split between two-bedroom flats, three-bedroom flats and four-bedroom flats, 
sixteen of which are two-bedroom flats with double bedrooms suitable for four people. 
bedrooms and two single bedrooms and would be suitable for six people. Twenty-six flats are 

three-bedroom, with four flats suitable for four people, with 1 double room and 2 single rooms); 
fifteen flats are suitable for five people, with two double bedrooms and 1 single bedroom, whilst 

seven flats are suitable for six people, with all bedrooms double occupancy.   
 
59. Two flats provide four bedrooms, all of which are double occupancy suitable for eight people.  

 
Table 2, below, summarises the size of dwellings and bedrooms. 

 
          Table 2: Dwelling and bedroom sizes and proposed number of people 

Unit No. of 
Bedrooms 

Bedroom 
Size (sqm) 

Minimum 
Floor Area 

Required 
(sqm) 

Floor Area 
Provided 

(sqm) 

Compliance 

Basement: Not Applicable 

Ground Floor 

1 3 (suitable 

for 4 
people) 

7.8. 10.35. 

13.5 

74 105 yes 

2 2 (suitable 

for 4 
people) 

12.60 and 

12.95 

70 93 yes 

3 2 suitable 

for 4 
people) 

12.35 and 

17.85 

70 114 yes 

4 3 (suitable 
for 5 

people) 

7.8, 11.6 
and 17.85 

86 114 yes 

5 2 (suitable 
for 4 

people) 

12.60 and 
12.95 

70 93 yes 

6 2 (suitable 
for 4 

people) 

12.35 and 
17.85 

70 114 yes 

7 3 (suitable 
for 5 
people) 

7.8, 11.6 
and 17.85 

86 114 yes 

42



8 3 (suitable 
for 6 
people) 

12.60, 
12.95 and 
15.10 

95 135 yes 

First Floor 

9 3 (suitable 
for 4 
people) 

7.8. 10.35. 
13.5 

74 105 yes 

10 2 (suitable 

for 4 
people) 

12.60 and 

12.95 

70 93 yes 

11 2 suitable 

for 4 
people) 

12.35 and 

17.85 

70 114 yes 

12 3 (suitable 

for 5 
people) 

7.8, 11.6 

and 17.85 

86 114 yes 

13 2 (suitable 
for 4 

people) 

12.60 and 
12.95 

70 93 yes 

14 3 (suitable 
for 5 

people) 

7.8, 12.35 
and 17.85 

86 114 yes 

15 3 (suitable 
for 5 

people) 

7.8, 11.6 
and 17.85 

86 114 yes 

16 3 (suitable 
for 6 
people) 

12.60, 
12.95 and 
15.10 

95 135 yes 

Second Floor 

17 3 (suitable 
for 4 
people) 

7.8. 10.35. 
13.5 

74 105 yes 

18 2 (suitable 

for 4 
people) 

12.60 and 

12.95 

70 93 yes 

19 2 suitable 

for 4 
people) 

12.35 and 

17.85 

70 114 yes 

20 3 (suitable 

for 5 
people) 

7.8, 11.6 

and 17.85 

86 114 yes 

21 2 (suitable 
for 4 

people) 

12.60 and 
12.95 

70 93 yes 

22 3 (suitable 
for 5 

people) 

7.8, 12.35 
and 17.85 

86 114 yes 

23 3 (suitable 
for 5 

people) 

7.8, 11.6 
and 17.85 

86 114 yes 

24 3 (suitable 
for 6 
people) 

12.60, 
12.95 and 
15.10 

95 135 yes 

Third Floor 

43



25 3 (suitable 
for 4 
people) 

7.8. 10.35. 
13.5 

74 105 yes 

26 2 (suitable 
for 4 
people) 

12.60 and 
12.95 

70 93 yes 

27 2 suitable 

for 4 
people) 

12.35 and 

17.85 

70 114 yes 

28 3 (suitable 

for 5 
people) 

7.8, 11.6 

and 17.85 

86 114 yes 

29 2 (suitable 

for 4 
people) 

12.60 and 

12.95 

70 93 yes 

30 3 (suitable 
for 5 

people) 

7.8, 12.35 
and 17.85 

86 114 yes 

31 3 (suitable 
for 5 

people) 

7.8, 11.6 
and 17.85 

86 114 yes 

32 3 (suitable 
for 6 
people) 

12.60, 
12.95 and 
15.10 

95 135 yes 

Fourth Floor 

33 3 (suitable 
for 6 
people) 

12.60,12.95 
and 13.9 

95 105 yes 

34 2 (suitable 

for 4 
people) 

12.35 and 

17.85 

70 114 yes 

35 3 (suitable 

for 5 
people) 

7.8, 11.6 

and 17.85 

86 114 yes 

36 2 (suitable 

for 4 
people) 

12.60 and 

12.95 

70 93 yes 

37 3 (suitable 
for 5 

people) 

7.8, 11.6, 
17.85 

86 114 yes 

38 3 (suitable 
for 5 

people) 

7.8, 11.6, 
17.85 

86 114 yes 

39 3 (suitable 
for 6 

people) 

12.60,12.95 
and 13.9 

95 135 yes 

Fifth Floor 

40 3 (suitable 
for 6 

people) 

12.60,12.95 
and 13.9 

95 105 yes 

41 2 (suitable 
for 4 
people) 

12.35 and 
17.85 

70 105 yes 

44



42 3 (suitable 
for 5 
people) 

7.8, 11.6 
and 17.85 

86 105 yes 

43 4 (suitable 
for 8 
people) 

16.3, 16.3, 
16.5 and 
16.5 

117 203 yes 

44 4 (suitable 

for 8 
people) 

16.3, 16.3, 

16.5 and 
16.5 

117 175 yes 

 

External Space 
 
60. All flats will have access to a balcony and there is a garden area to the rear, although on steep 

land. Within 180m to 800m the site is within easy reach of Canford Cliffs Play Park, the Beach 
and Pinecliff Gardens by walking or cycling.  

 
61. All the units meet the NDSS standards and provide terraces/balconies as well as communal 

external space, with other areas of public open space/recreation accessible by walking and 

cycling.  
 

62. As such the proposed units would provide good quality internal and external amenity for the 
future occupants as well as provide a good mix of housing sizes and is therefore in accordance 
Policies PP27 and the NDSS. 

 
 
Impact on Parking and Highway Safety 

 
63. Policy PP35 of the Poole Local Plan aims to ensure that new developments provide safe 

access to the highway and is well connected to sustainable modes of transport and promotes 
the use of alternative and sustainable forms of transport, such as cycling.  

 
64. Objections have been received with regards to the access being close to an existing 

roundabout. However, as with the extant permission, reference APP/21/01719/P, the proposals 

would continue to use the existing vehicular access from Canford Cliffs Road.  The access 
would have sufficient width to allow vehicles to pass at the site entrance. Furthermore, the 

remainder of the access into the basement would be widened, which would also require the 
existing dropped kerb to be widened at the applicant’s expense. The Highways Authority have 
not raised any concerns on this matter. 

 
65. The site is located within car parking Zone D, which is characterised as less accessible area 

reliant on car ownership, where there is a lack of street car parking. As such, new development 
without sufficient on-site parking can often result in parking displacement that would 
exacerbate parking stress in the area, and site cramming within the site access lane and 

service areas, which would cause inappropriate and dangerous manoeuvres and adversely 
impact on highway safety in the vicinity of the site. 

 
66. Initial car parking proposal had a significant shortfall regarding on-site car parking. However, 

after several rounds of negotiating suitable provision of on-site car parking is now provided, 

with the Proposed Basement and Ground Floor Plan, Drawing No. 9491 / 702 Rev F, showing 
provision of 66 basement car parking spaces, along with 124 secured cycle spaces and four 

visitor cycle spaces, six spaces over the required amount. 
 
67. The Highways Authority have removed their initial objection stating “the parking shortfall would 

now be reduced to five spaces, which is a similar shortfall to the approved scheme 

45



(21/01720/P). On this basis I would not recommend refusal for a similar shortfall [as the extant 
permission], and the scheme can now be supported in highway terms”. 

 
68. The Highways Officer’s concerns have been addressed. As such it is considered that the 

proposal is acceptable and is compliant with Policy PP35 and BCP’s Parking SPD, subject to 
conditions.   

 

 
Affordable Housing 

 
69. Policy PP11 of the Poole Local Plan states that to meet housing needs the Council will seek 

to maximise the amount of affordable housing from all housing schemes of 11 or more homes 

or over 1,000 square metres in floor space. In this instance, the proposed development is for 
15 dwellings. Therefore, the proposed development meets the threshold to trigger the 

requirement for the provision of affordable housing. The affordable housing provision to be 
sought in relation to this proposal is 40% of the number of dwellings i.e. 6 dwellings. 

 

70. However, Policy PP40 (3) requires applicants to submit a financial viability assessment (FVA) 
where they consider that providing affordable housing would make the scheme unviable and 

this should be submitted with or before the planning application. After which, the assessment 
will then be independently verified.   

 

71. This applicant’s FVA has been evaluated by an independent evaluator on behalf of the DVS. 
The Evaluator has concluded that the scheme would not be fully policy compliant with regards 

to providing 40% affordable housing or have any financial surplus after other s106 contributions 
and CIL contributions have been considered. The proposal is therefore in accordance with 
Policies PP11: Affordable Housing and PP40: Viability. 

 
 
Biodiversity Net Gain 

 
72. Paragraph 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act, under the heading of 

‘duty to conserve biodiversity’ states “every public authority must, in exercising its functions, 
have regard, so far as is consistent with the proper exercise of those functions, to the purpose 

of conserving biodiversity.” 
 
73. The NPPF at chapter 15 ‘conserving and enhancing the natural environment’ sets out 

government views on minimising the impacts on biodiversity, providing net gains where 
possible and contributing to halt the overall decline in biodiversity. The Local Plan at Policy 

CS35 – Nature and Geological Conservation Interests, sets out policy requirements for the 
protection and where possible, a net gain in biodiversity. 

 

74. In accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as inserted by 
Schedule 14 of the Environment Act 2021), it is now a statutory requirement that minor 

applications received since 2nd April 2024 provide an uplift in biodiversity of 10%, unless it can 
be demonstrated that an exemption applies.  

  

75. The biodiversity gain hierarchy, as set out within articles 37A and 37D of the Town and Country 
Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 sets out a list of 

priority actions that must be followed in relation to biodiversity at the design stage of a proposed 
development.   

 first, in relation to onsite habitats which have a medium, high and very high distinctiveness 

(a score of four or more according to the statutory biodiversity metric), the avoidance of 
adverse effects from the development and, if they cannot be avoided, the mitigation of 

those effects; and  

46



 then, in relation to all onsite habitats which are adversely affected by the development, 
the adverse effect should be compensated by prioritising in order, where possible, the 

enhancement of existing onsite habitats, creation of new onsite habitats, allocation of 
registered offsite gains and finally the purchase of biodiversity credits.  

  

76. Whilst the existing woodland makes up a particularly large proportion of the site, it is in poor 

condition. Retention of this area is paramount with a particularly small portion lost to make 

room for the rear of the new development and to create amenity space for the users of the site.  

77. The trees to the front of the site are to be retained where possible, with only a small group of 

strawberry trees to be removed. The existing low distinctiveness habitats are in a poor 
condition and there is no provision to retain existing low distinctiveness habitats, which will be 
offset with the introduction of new habitats of a similar distinctiveness. 

 
78. The new habitats proposed for this site are composed of modified grassland, introduced shrub, 

native hedgerow and eight new trees, all of which will contribute to offsetting lost vegetation. 
 
79. Due to the size of some of the existing trees that are to be removed, there will be a shortfall of 

1.42 (-13.64%) A1 Habitat Units. This shortfall and the loss of existing woodland trees and 
other low-distinctiveness habitats have resulted in the need to purchase habitat units from a 

local habitat provider to ensure a 10% BNG. 
 
80. The BNG Officer has been consulted and states that “The baseline habitat plan and metric are 

considered to be acceptable”. 
 

81. In light of the above, Planning Officers are satisfied that the statutory biodiversity net gain 
condition is capable of being discharged and therefore the proposal is in accordance with 
Policy PP33 and Schedule 7A, 37A and 37D of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

inserted by Schedule 14 of the Environment Act 2021).   
 

 
Ecology 

 

82. Paragraph 193 of the NPPF states, in part, if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a 
development cannot be avoided (through locating on an alternative site with less harmful 

impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then planning permission 
should be refused. The NPPF further states that “Planning policies and decisions should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by (d) minimising impacts on and 

providing net gains for biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks that 
are more resilient to current and future pressures” (187).  

 
83. Additionally, in determining this application the BCP Council has to bear in mind that under 

Section 40 Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC) “Every public 

authority must, in exercising its functions, have regard, so far as is consistent with the proper 
exercise of those functions, to the purpose of conserving biodiversity”.  

 
84. Policy PP33 (part 1) states that “Proposals for development that affects biodiversity, and any 

sites containing species and habitats of local importance must:  

a) demonstrate how any features of nature conservation and biodiversity interest are to 
be protected and managed to prevent any adverse impact;  

b) incorporate measures to avoid, reduce or mitigate disturbance of sensitive wildlife 
habitats throughout the lifetime of the development; and  

c) seek opportunities to enhance biodiversity through the restoration, improvement or 

creation of habitats and/or ecological networks. 
 

47



79. The applicant has submitted an PRA Nesting Birds and Bat Activity Report (PRA), undertaken 
by ABR Ecology Ltd, dated the 16th of July 2025. The aim of the PRA is to determine whether 

there is actual and potential presence of bats and if so whether the proposed works will impact 
roosting bats and to establish if there is a requirement for a bat European Protected Species 

(EPS) licence or Bat Mitigation Class Licence (BMCL) from Natural England to allow the works 
to proceed lawfully following planning approval. 

 

80. The PRA concludes that there is no evidence of nesting birds within or around the buildings. 
However, roosting bats were identified to support a maternity roost for common pipistrelle bats. 

Consequently, the demolition of the existing block of flats will result in the permanent loss of 
these bat roosts. As such European Protected Species (EPS) mitigation licence from Natural 
England is required. 

 
79. The Biodiversity Officer has been consulted and has reviewed the updated PRA, and is 

satisfied with the findings, subject to a condition ensuring that the recommendations, as given 
in section 4 and appendix G, of the PRA are implemented in full, along with a condition ensuring 
vegetation clearance on-site shall only be undertaken outside the bird breeding season 

between the 1st of March and the 31st of August.  
 

80. Given the contents of the PRA and the Biodiversity Officer’s comments, the Case Officer 
considers that with a suitably worded condition to ensure the development fully adheres to the 
PRA, the development will comply with Policy PP33 and the relevant provisions set out in the 

NPPF. 
 

 
Tree Protection 

 

81. Policy PP27 states that “A good standard of design is required in all new developments, 
including extensions and external alterations to existing buildings.  

 
82. Policy PP27 states that (1) General Development will be permitted provided that, where 

relevant, it: 

(b) responds to natural features on the site and does not result in the loss of trees that make a 
significant contribution, either individually or cumulatively, to the character and local climate of 

the area. Any scheme that requires the removal of trees should, where appropriate, include 
replacement trees to mitigate their loss.” 

 

83. The Tree Officer has been consulted several times during the application process.  Requested 

information in relation to landscape, arboriculture and engineering has now been submitted in 

response to previous comments. As such the Tree Officer is satisfied with the information 

submitted and no longer has any objections, stating, in summary, that the submitted 

engineering is now accompanied with detailed methodology and plans and demonstrate how 

the soil retention system can be achieved without unduly impacting trees. Furthermore, 26 

trees are proposed to be planted across the site so as to mitigate the 11 trees to be lost. As 

such, the Tree Officer concludes that “the trees proposed for removal will have a limited impact 

on the character and local climate of the area, and sufficient mitigation planting has been 

proposed”. 

 

84. In light of the additional supporting documentation and the Tree Officer’s positive comments, 
it is considered the proposal is in accordance with the requirements of Policy PP27 1(b), 
subject to conditions in relation to the development adhering to the Arboricultural Method 

Statement and Tree Protection Plan; works only to commence after a site meeting involving a 
representative of the local planning authority and an Arboricultural Consultant; and that works 

shall be carried out under arboricultural supervision.  
 

48



 
Waste and Recycling 

 

92. For a development of 44 flats, provision should be made for 10 x 1100L recycling bins and 7 x 

1100L refuse bins (collected fortnightly on alternate weeks). The development should also 

include provision for 6 x 140L food waste bins (to be collected weekly). 

93. The Waste Collection Authority (WCA) initially objected as the waste storage area was too 

small. Amended plans, as shown on the Proposed Site Plan, Drawing 9491 / 701 Rev N, show 

the bin area is now of a suitable size and location. The WCA have since removed their 

objection. Planning Officers are therefore satisfied that the bin store and waste bins are now 

in accordance with the Council’s Standards for Waste Container Storage and Access Planning 

Guidance Note. 

 

Drainage 

 

94. The site is located within Flood Zone 1, an area of least flood risk from rivers or from the sea. 
With regards to surface water flooding is, the Government’s website, Check Your Long-term 
Flood Risk Maps Surface water: understand your flood risk - Check your long term flood risk - 

GOV.UK shows the site Very low staying at Very low between 2040 to 2060. 
 

95. Policy PP38 relates to managing flood risk, whether from coastal or river sources as well as 
surface water flooding. Part3 of the policy states that advice on Sustainable Drainage Systems 
for small scale developments will be provided by a Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems 

Supplementary Planning Document SPD). The SPD sets out the various forms of SuDS to 
minimise the quantity of water that has to be disposed of from any development and hence 

helps to reduce flood risk. 
 
96. The applicant has submitted the following documents: 

 Soakaway size calculations dated 05/08/2025 

 Proposed contributing area plan C3824/201 revision P, dated 05/08/2025 

 Proposed size and location of the soakaway plan C3824/101 revision P, dated 05/08/2025 
 

97. The LLFA / Drainage Officer has been consulted and has no objection to the proposal stating 
that the proposed site is not at flood risk and may be adequately drained, albeit with some 
amendments to the currently proposed drainage strategy, subject to conditions relating to the 

submission of detailed proposals for the management of surface water (including provision of 
final and substantiated drainage designs) and the submission of a Surface Water Management 

Scheme, both of which will need to be approved by the LPA in consultation with the LLFA / 
Drainage Officer. 

 

98. In light of the LLFA / Drainage Officer’s comments and the proposed conditions, the Case 
Officer considers there is likely to be a drainage solution to avoid any increase in flooding and 

ensure the site is appropriately drained in accordance with Policy PP38.  
 
 
Sustainability & Climate Change 

 

99. The impact of climate change is ever present. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 
Change (IPCC), report that since 1860, average global temperatures have risen by 1.3 degrees 
C and are expected to increase to 4 degrees C by 2100, compared to pre-industrial levels of 

global warming. This represents a significant risk to society and how we live our lives and a 
threat to the planet. This threat has prompted national and local government to declare a 

national climate change emergency. In 2019, BCP Council made i ts emergency declaration to 

49

https://check-long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk/surface-water
https://check-long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk/surface-water


both climate change and ecology with its aim “to keep climate warming below 1.5 degrees C 
to avoid further environmental damage, population displacement, biodiversity loss and risk to 

life”.  
 

100. Consequently, national government and local government has put planning at the forefront of 
tackling change with regards to new developments.  Paragraph 161 of the NPPF articulates 
the need for the planning system to support the transition to a net zero by 2050 and a low 

carbon future so as to “[radically reduce] greenhouse gas emissions, minimise vulnerability 
and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of existing resources, including the conversion of 

existing buildings; and support renewable and low carbon energy and associated 
infrastructure”.   

 

101. Policy PP37, Building sustainable homes and businesses, also aims to reduce the impact of 
climate change by setting out measures to mitigate the impact as well as how new 

development can adapt to climate change. The policy states, in part 2: 
a. “where appropriate, new development should incorporate a proportion of future energy 

use from renewable energy sources with:  

b. (ii) a minimum of 20% for proposals of 11 or more homes or over 1,000 sq. m 
commercial floor space 

 
102. Section 8 of the Design & Access Statement provides a brief Energy Assessment which sets 

out how the proposed development will be energy efficient and states that any details the 

details for renewable energy can be secured by a condition.  
 

103. Whilst no details pertaining to reducing the impact of climate change via the incorporation of a 
renewable energy source, a condition can be imposed to ensure the development provides 
on-site renewable energy to offset a minimum of 20% of the development’s energy. With such 

a condition in place, the Case Officer considers the proposal will be in compliance with Policy 
PP37.  

 
 
Heathland Mitigation 

 
104. The site is within 5km of a designated Dorset Heathlands SPA (Special Protection Area) and 

Ramsar Site, and part of the Dorset Heaths candidate SAC (Special Area of Conservation) 
which covers the whole of Bournemouth. As such, the determination of any application for an 
additional dwelling(s) resulting in increased population and domestic animals should be 

undertaken with regard to the requirements of the Habitat Regulations 1994.  It is considered 
that an appropriate assessment could not clearly demonstrate that there would not be an 

adverse effect on the integrity of the sites, particularly its effect upon bird and reptile habitats 
within the SSSI. 

 

105. Therefore, as of 17th January 2007 all applications received for additional residential 
accommodation within the borough is subject to a financial contribution towards mitigation 

measures towards the designated sites. A capital contribution is therefore required and in this 
instance is £9,720 (£360 x 27 [the number of net dwellings]). BCP Council also charge an 
administration charge of 5% (£476).  

 

106. The applicant has agreed to enter into a legal agreement to mitigate the recreational impact 

on the Heathlands that would result as a consequence of the development. The proposal is 
therefore compliant with Policy PP32.  

 

 
Poole Harbour Mitigation 

 

50



107. The application site is within the Poole Harbour Recreational Zone and is therefore subject to 
Policy PP32, which aims “to mitigate the adverse effects of recreation related pressures within 

Poole Harbour in accordance with the adopted SPD”. The SPD states that “Poole Harbour was 
classified as a Special Protection Area (SPA) in 1999 due to the important bird species that 

inhabit the area. The special site was designated under the EU Birds Directive to protect rare, 
vulnerable and migratory birds. In particular for the internationally important populations of 
regularly occurring species and migratory species“. 

 
108. Development proposals for any net increase in housing require a capital contribution. In this 

instance the mitigation contribution is £3,483 (£129 x 27) plus an admin fee of 5% (£174.15).  

 

109. The applicant has agreed to enter into a legal agreement to mitigate the recreational impact 
on the Poole Harbour Recreational Zone that would result as a consequence of the 
development. The proposal is therefore compliant with Policy PP32.  

 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy 

 
110. Objections were received with regards to the impact the development would have on local 

services, such as health, education, doctors etc. The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a 
levy that local authorities can charge on development in their area. BCP collect CIL monies 
and put them to needed infrastructure in the area in order to support housing growth.  

 
111. The development proposal is liable to a CIL charge. Consequently, if approved, a CIL Liability 

Notice will be sent to the applicant following the granting of permission which will provide 
information on the applicant’s obligations. The application site is within charging zone A, the 
rate of which is £282.80 per sqm. 

 
 

Summary & Planning Balance 

 
112. The principle of infill development within this area is established. 

 The proposed development, as revised, has an acceptable impact on the character and 
appearance of the area; 

 The impact on neighbouring residential amenity is acceptable; 

 The level of car parking provision is acceptable; 

 The proposal is compliant with BNG via the purchase of 1.42 units off-site; 

 The proposal will provide additional biodiversity enhancements outside the remit of BNG;  

 The proposal will provide a net gain of 27 residential units to help boost the Council’s 
housing supply; 

 The proposed drainage will provide a suitable drainage solution to alleviate an increase 
in surface flooding; 

 The impact on heathlands and Poole Harbour will be suitably mitigated. 

 
113. Therefore, having considered the appropriate development plan policy and other material 

considerations, including the NPPF, it is considered that subject to a s106 agreement, CIL 
contributions and compliance with the attached conditions, the development would be in 
accordance with the Development Plan, would not materially harm the character or 

appearance of the area or the amenities of neighbouring and proposed occupiers and would 
be acceptable in terms of traffic safety and convenience. The Development Plan Policies 

considered in reaching this decision are set out above. 
Recommendation 
 

92. GRANT permission for the reasons as set out in this report subject to  

51



(a) the following conditions; and  
(b) a deed pursuant to section 106 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 

securing the terms below with power delegated to the Head of Planning Operations 
to agree specific wording provided such wording in the opinion of the Head of 

Planning Operations does not result in a reduction in the terms identified:  
 
Section 106 terms 

 

 Heathland Mitigation (SAMM): £9,720 plus an administration cost. 

 Poole Harbour Recreational Zone: £3,483 plus an administration cost. 

 BNG Monitoring Fees: £5,048. 
 
 
1. Detailed Permission 

The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than the expiration of three years 
beginning with the date this permission is granted. 

  
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  

  

  
2. Decision Notice 

 
The development hereby permitted shall only be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved  plans: 

 
 9491-700 A Site Location and Block Plan 

9491-702 M Proposed Basement and Ground Floor Plan 
 9491-703 D Proposed First, Second, and Third Floor Plan 
 9491-704 E Proposed Fourth, Fifth Floor Plan and Roof Plan 

 9491-706 G Proposed Rear and Side Elevations 
 9491-705 G Proposed Front and Side Elevations 

 502-5 Planting Moodboard 
 101 Proposed Soakaway Size 
 201 Proposed Contributing Area 

 2025.383.01 A Engineers Drawing 
 2025.383.02 B Engineers Drawing 

2025.383.93 A Engineers Drawing Temporary Support 
 2025.383.04 Engineers Drawing Sections 
 2025.383.03 Rev C Engineers Drawing 

 6231 IN Inspection Hole Locations 
 6231-25-TPP Rev G Tree Protection Plan 

 502 - 1 Rev 10 Landscape Plan 
 9491-701 Rev S Proposed Site Plan 
 502 - 7 R1 Tree Pit Detail 

 502 - 8 - R1 Tree Section 
  

 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.  
 
 
3. LEMP (significant) 

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced, including any demolition 

and site clearance for the purposes of the development, unless a Landscape and Ecology 
Management Plan (LEMP) has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority.  The LEMP shall accord with the Biodiversity Gain Plan approved for the 

purposes of the development and the approved HMMP required in accordance with the 

52



conditions forming part of this permission (the agreed HMMP) together with all biodiversity 
related plans and documents required to be approved in the other conditions forming part of 

this permission [and the recommendations contained in Section 4 and Appendix G of the 
Preliminary Roost Assessment, Nesting Birds & Bat Activity Survey Report, undertaken by 

ABR Ecology, dated the 9th of January 2025. The LEMP shall in particular include: 
 
1. details of all ecological matters (including species enhancements) and landscaping 

associated with the development not otherwise identified in the agreed HMMP including 
identification of what is to be retained as well as all proposed creation and enhancement; 

 
2. details of all proposed works relating to such ecological matters and landscaping together 
with any relating to on-site habitat not otherwise identified in the agreed HMMP [ including any 

proposed hard landscaping and all boundary treatments]; 
 

3. a timetable for the provision of all such ecological matters, landscaping and works; and 
  
4. details and arrangements as to future on-going retention, management and maintenance of 

all such ecological matters, landscaping and works [including provision for the replacement of 
any plant or tree found damaged, removed, dead or dying]. 

  
The approved LEMP shall at all times be accorded with and the identified ecological matters, 
landscaping and works at all times retained, managed and maintained in accordance with the 

approved LEMP. 
  

Reason: to ensure there is adequate protection for the existing habitats and provide suitable 
external amenity space for future occupiers and to ensure 10% Biodiversity Net Gain can be 
provided in accordance with the Biodiversity Gain Hierarchy as per paragraph 13 of Schedule 

7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Environment Act 2021. 
 

 
4. HMMP 

a) No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced, including any 

demolition / and site clearance for the purposes of the development, unless a Habitat 
Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP) has first been submitted to and approved in 

writing by the local planning authority.  
  

 b) The HMMP shall accord with the Biodiversity Gain Plan approved for the purposes of the 

development hereby permitted and all landscaping/tree and biodiversity related plans and 
documents required to be approved in the other conditions forming part of this permission 

and the information contained in 30-Year Landscape Management Plan, undertaken by The 
Landscape Service, reference 502-4-Rev 7, dated the 13th of October 2025 and the 
Landscape Plan 502-1- Rev 10, dated the 15th of October 2025. 

  
 c) The HMMP shall in particular include: 

    a) a background section; including: 
      i. a high level summary of all relevant matters identified in the HMMP;  
      ii. details of the person(s) who have written the HMMP and who will be     

                      responsible for delivery and maintenance of all Habitat Provision; and  
      iii. the metric used for the purposes of the HMMP; and 

     
b) a section setting out all planned habitat activities, including: 

      i. overarching aims and objectives;  

      ii. design principles informed by all relevant baseline information;  
      iii. full details of the Habitat Provision;  

      iv. a Condition Target for each habitat forming part of the Habitat Provision  

53



                      together with targets required to meet every Condition Target including   
                      timelines against which progress against those targets can be assessed;  

      v. details of all protective, management and maintenance measures in  
                      relation to the Habitat Provision to cover a period of at least thirty years  

                      from the Completion of Development; and 
      vi. details of any identifiable risk relating to the Habitat Provision and also   
                      the meeting of any Condition Target together with initial identified  

                      remedial measures relating to any such risk; and 
  

 d) A monitoring schedule section including: 
     a) a monitoring strategy;  
     b) details of monitoring methods to be used for a Monitoring Report  

                      together with intervals for the provision of every Monitoring Report to the  
                      local planning authority; and  

    c) details of how Adaptive Management will be incorporated into meeting  
                      every Condition Target; and 
  

 e) Plans and details reasonably necessary for each section. 
  

 f) No [part of the development shall be occupied or otherwise brought into use] unless 
the local planning authority has approved in writing the Completion of Initial Habitat Report.  

  

 g) The approved HMMP shall at all times be accorded with. If at any time it is identified that 
any Condition Target specified in the approved HMMP may not be, or is no longer being, met 

then Adaptive Management shall be implemented without unreasonable delay sufficient to 
ensure that the Condition Target will be met or continues to be met (as the case may be) in 
accordance with the approved HMMP.  

  
 h) Whenever a Monitoring Report is submitted to the local planning authority in accordance 

with the approved HMMP, in addition to any other information, it shall in particular include: 
    i. a progress summary;  
    ii. details of the person(s) responsible for compiling the information in the  

                      monitoring report;  
    iii. details identifying the success or failure of the Habitat Provision both  

                      generally and in particular as against every relevant Condition Target;  
    iv. progress toward every Condition Target including any identified  
                      barrier(s) to such progress;  

    v. any Adaptive Management required to ensure that the Habitat Provision  
                      is on track to meet each Condition Target and continues to meet every  

                      Condition Target once achieved;  
    vi. a register of activity; and  
    vii. any identified need to vary the approved HMMP together with relevant  

                      explanation. 
  

 Definitions within HMMP 
 "Adaptive Management" means procedure(s) whether originally identified in the approved 
HMMP, a Monitoring Report or otherwise including a timetable for delivery to ensure that the 

Condition Target(s) are achieved and thereafter maintained [including any procedure(s) that 
the local planning authority may at any time specify in writing for such a purpose [in the event 

of any procedure not proving successful]]; 
 "Condition Target" mean the minimum acceptable targeted level of habitat condition in 
relation to each habitat type situated on the application site including a time by when that 

habitat condition will be reached where it is not already being met; 
 "Completion of Initial Habitats" means the date on which the local planning authority issue an 

approval of the Completion of Development Report; 

54



 "Completion of Initial Habitats Report" means a written report submitted to the local planning 
authority for the purposes of this condition identifying the date on which the development 

hereby permitted has been completed together with evidence of such completion and also of 
compliance with all targets applicable on or before that date identified in the approved HMMP; 

 "Habitat Provision" means all habitat situated on the application site to which this permission 
relates to be retained, created and enhanced  
 "Monitoring Report" means a report containing monitoring and survey information to be 

submitted to the local planning authority in relation to the Habitat Provision including 
person(s) responsible for undertaking all such monitoring and surveys and submission of the 

report to the local planning authority. 
  

 Reason: to ensure there is adequate protection for the existing habitats and to ensure 10% 

Biodiversity Net Gain can be provided in accordance with the Biodiversity Gain Hierarchy as 
per paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the 

Environment Act 2021. 
 
 
5. Pre-commencement Meeting (trees) 

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced, including any site 

clearance, the digging of any trenches and the bringing on to site of any equipment, materials 
or machinery for use in connection with the implementation of the development (save as is 
necessary for the purpose of this condition) unless:  

 (a) A site meeting involving a representative of the local planning authority and an 
Arboricultural Consultant has first taken place to identify any supplemental requirements, for 

protecting trees during the carrying out of the development on and adjacent to the application 
site, to the details identified in the approved Arboricultural Method Statement dated 25 
September 2025 and the approved tree Protection Plan 6231/25/TPP, Rev: G, dated 25 

September 2025 ("the Approved Tree Details"); and 
  

 (b) There has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority details 
of supplemental requirements confirmed at the meeting ("the Supplemental Requirements"); 
and 

  
 (c) All tree protection has been provided in accordance with both the Approved Tree Details 

and the Supplemental Requirements ("the Full Approved Tree Protection Measures"). Once 
provided, the Full Approved Tree Protection Measures shall thereafter at all times be retained 
until the development has been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus 

materials relating to the construction of the development have been removed from the site 
unless an alternative time is otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. Unti l 

such time as the Full Approved Tree Protection Measures have all been removed, nothing 
shall be stored or placed in any area secured by any part of the Full Approved Tree Protection 
Measures nor shall the ground levels within those areas be altered or any excavation made 

without the written consent of the local planning authority. 
  

 Reason: To ensure that trees and their rooting environments are afforded adequate physical 
protection during construction and this is a pre-commencement condition to prevent any harm 
being caused to those trees that might result from any other work being carried out in relation 

to the development. 
 

 
 
 
6. Management of Surface Water 

No development (including demolition) shall take place until detailed proposals for the 

management of surface water (including provision of final and substantiated drainage 

55



designs), which strictly accord with the approved drainage strategy (C3824/101 revision 
Pdated 05/08/2025 with amendments as per LLFA consultation response of 16/09/2025), has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The surface water 
scheme must be completed in accordance with the approved details and fully functional, prior 

to occupation of the development. 
 

Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding and to protect available receiving systems.  

 
 
7. Implementation of Arboricultural Method Statement 

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be carried out other than in accordance 
with the details and timetable contained in the approved Arboricultural Method Statement and 

Tree Protection Plan (6231/25/TPP, Rev: G) from Mark Hindsley Arboricultural Consultants 
LTD, dated 25 September 2025. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that trees and their rooting environments are afforded adequate physical 
protection during construction. 

  
 
8. Arboricultural Supervision 

The development hereby permitted shall only be carried out in accordance with the 
supervision schedule contained in the approved arboricultural method statement dated 25th 

September 2025. A written site note that details the name and contact details of the person 
undertaking the site supervision visit and includes the outcomes of each such visit and any 

identified remedial works including a timetable for their implementation shall be produced 
following each such visit and arrangements made to ensure that a copy is received by the 
local planning authority no later than 48 hours after the supervision visit has been undertaken. 

In the event of the local planning authority giving notice to the person who undertook a site 
supervision visit or to any person on the application site (whichever is the sooner) as to any 

issue  relating to any written site note that has been produced then all work on the application 
site shall immediately cease upon receipt of such a notice (unless an alternative time is 
specified in the notice) and no further work shall be recommenced without the prior 

agreement of the local planning authority (or as otherwise may be specified by the local 
planning authority). 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the trees retained on site will not be damaged during the construction 
works and to ensure that work is carried out as approved and in accordance with current best 

practice. 
 

 
9. Species Enhancements 

Details of biodiversity enhancements and mitigation as given in section 4 and appendix G in 

‘PRA, Nesting Birds & Bat Activity Survey Report 172 Canford Cliffs Road’ by ABR Ecology 
Ltd must be implemented in full. 

  
 Reason: compliance with National Planning Policy Framework (2024) paragraph 187 
"Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local 

environment by minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity" and Poole 
Plan Policy PP33 "enhance biodiversity". 

 
 
10. Biodiversity (vegetation clearance) 

Vegetation clearance on this site should be carried outside the bird breeding season of 1st 
March to 31st August inclusive. Unless it can be sufficiently checked by an ecologist to show 

that nesting birds are not present. 

56



  
 Reason: Prevention of disturbance to birds’ nests as protected under Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). 
 

 
11. Maintenance & Management of Surface Water Scheme 

Prior to occupation, maintenance and management of the Surface Water Management 

scheme required via condition (1) must be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The scheme shall thereafter be managed and maintained in accordance 

with the approved details. These should include a plan for the lifetime of the development, 
the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker, or any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the surface water drainage scheme throughout its 

lifetime. 
 

Reason: To ensure future maintenance of the surface water drainage system, and to prevent 
the increased risk of flooding. 
 

 
12. Contamination 

In the event that any contamination which has not previously been reported to the local 
planning authority as part of the planning application to which this permission relates is found 
during the implementation of the development hereby permitted then this shall be reported 

without any unreasonable delay (and in any event within [2] working days) to the local 
planning authority and furthermore no work on any part of the application site shall be carried 

out at any time after the contamination has been found save as provided for in this condition 
(or as as otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority) unless a risk assessment 
has been carried out, submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority and 

either: 
  

 (a) The local planning authority has confirmed in writing that work can recommence without 
any further action; or 

  

 (b)(i) Detailed remediation scheme(s) in relating to that identified contamination which 
include: 

  
 (A) An appraisal of remediation options; 
  

 (B) Identification of the preferred option(s); 
  

 (C) The proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria; 
  
 (D) A description and programme of the works to be undertaken; and 

  
 (E) A verification plan which sets out the measures that will be undertaken to confirm that the 

approved remediation scheme has achieved its objectives and remediation criteria; 
 have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority and thereafter 
implemented in accordance with the approved scheme(s);  

  
 (ii) Verification report(s) which identify the results of the verification plan and confirms whether 

all the contamination objectives and remediation criteria set out in the relevant approved 
remediation scheme(s) have been met have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority; and 

  

57



 (iii) There has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority a 
verification report which confirms that all the objectives and remediation criteria of the 

approved remediation scheme to which it relates have been met. 
  

 All schemes, reports and other documents required for the purposes of this condition shall 
include the qualifications and experience of the person(s) who produced them sufficient to 
demonstrate their competence.  

  
 Reason: To safeguard the health, well-being and amenities of users of the site and the locality 

and avoid the migration of contaminants in general. 
 
 
13. Renewable Energy 

Prior to first occupation of the building(s) hereby permitted, details of measures to provide 

20% of the predicted future energy use of each dwelling from on-site renewable sources, 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. These measures 
must then be implemented before any residential occupation is brought into use, and 

maintained thereafter.  
 

Reason In the interests of delivering a sustainable scheme, reducing carbon emissions and 
reducing reliance on centralised energy supply, and in accordance with Policy PP37 of the 
Poole Local Plan (November 2018). 

 
 
14. Traffic Signal Scheme 

Prior to the completion of the Damp Proof Course details of a traffic signal scheme for the 
access drive and car park entrances shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall subsequently be implemented prior to 
the first occupation of the apartments hereby approved, and thereafter retained and 

maintained in perpetuity. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policy PP35 of the Poole 

Local Plan. 
 

 
15. Travel Plan 

A Travel Plan shall be agreed prior to first occupation of the development. The Travel Plan 

shall include measures to encourage sustainable travel use amongst residents of the 
development and timeline for introduction of those measures. The Travel Pack shall include 

the following measures, but not be limited to these measures: 
 
Residential Travel Information Pack 

A Travel Information Pack will be provided to each residential unit upon first occupation of 
that unit and shall contain the following information: 

 An explanation of the purpose and benefits of the Travel Plan and the benefits of 
sustainable travel; 

 Maps of walking and cycling routes to key destinations; 

 Timetables, route maps and ticketing information for public transport relevant to the site 
location; 

 
Public Transport and Beryl scheme (including Bikes, e-Bikes and e-Scooters) 

In addition to the Travel Information Pack the following measures will be undertaken with 
regard to the promotion of public transport and Beryl Bike, e-Bike and e-Scooter initiatives, 
and on first occupation each household to be provided with: 

58



 Provision of a free three month public transport travel permit for each residential unit (valid 
for a minimum period of 90 days) 

 Provision of Beryl scheme vouchers, including Bikes, e-Bikes and e-Scooters (valid for a 
minimum period of 90 days) 

 
Reason: In order to mitigate the impact of the development upon the local highway network 

and surrounding neighbourhood by promoting more sustainable modes of transport. 
 
 

16. Basement Car Parking 

Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority to any variation, the under 

croft and basement car parking areas hereby approved shall be designed and constructed 
having regard to the Institution of Structural Engineers Publication ‘Design Recommendations 
for Multi-storey and Underground Car Parks’ (2011) or any future update. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policy PP35 of the Poole 

Local Plan (2018), the Parking Standards SPD (Jan 2021), and the Institution of Structural 
Engineers Publication ‘Design Recommendations for Multi-storey and Underground Car 
Parks’ (2011). 

 
 
17. Samples of Materials 

Details and samples of all external facing and roofing materials to be used shall be submitted 
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority before any on-site works 

commence.  The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building(s) is satisfactory and in 
accordance with Policy PP27 of the Poole Local Plan (November 2018). 

 
 
18. Access, Turning, Parking, Unloading/Loading 

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied unless the access, turning, 
parking and loading/unloading areas shown on approved plans  9491/701 Rev S and 

9491/702 Rev M have first been fully constructed and laid out in accordance with the 
specifications to be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. Thereafter, these areas 

shall at all times be retained, kept free from obstruction, be available for use for the purposes 
specified and maintained in a manner such that the areas remain so available.  
  

 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
 
19. Bicycle Parking 

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied unless the bicycle parking 

facilities shown on approved plan 9491/701 Rev S and 9491/702 Rev M have first been fully 
constructed and laid out in the approved plans. Thereafter, the approved bicycle parking 
facilities shall at all times be retained, kept available for use as bicycle parking and maintained 

in a manner such that the facilities shall at all times remain so available.  
  

 Reason: In the interests of promoting alternative sustainable modes of transport. 
 
20. Visibility Splays 

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied unless the visibility splay 
areas as shown on approved drawing 9491/701 Rev S and 9491/702 Rev M have first been 

cleared [and excavated] to a level not exceeding 0.6 metres above the relative level of the 

59



adjacent highway. The visibility splay areas shall at all times thereafter be retained at that 
level, kept free from all obstructions and maintained in a way that ensures that they provide 

clear visibility to and from the highway and any access associated with the visibility splays. 
  

 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
 
21. External Lighting 

Details of a scheme of lighting along the shared access drive and parking area shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme 
shall then be fully implemented prior to the first occupation of the first dwelling hereby 
approved and thereafter retained and maintained to ensure the lighting remains in working 

order.  
 

Reason: In the interests of safety of users of the shared surface and th amenity of neighbours 
in accordance with the Policies PP27 and PP35 of the Poole Local Plan adopted 2018. 

 

 
Informative Notes 

 
1. Working With Applicants 

In accordance with the provisions of paragraphs 38 of the NPPF the Local Planning Authority (LPA) 

takes a positive and creative approach to development proposals focused on solutions.  The LPA 
work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by; 

 offering a pre-application advice service, and 

 advising applicants of any issues that may arise during the consideration of their 

application and, where possible, suggesting solutions.  
 
2. First 4.5m Access Crossing 

The applicant is informed that the “first” part of the 4.5 metres of the access crossing in any case 
falls within the highway and is subject to the direct jurisdiction of the local highway authority. The 

remaining proportion of the 4.5 metres is also required to be surfaced to ensure free and easy 
access to and from the highway and to ensure stones, mud, gravel and the like do not result in a 
hazard on or near the highway. 

 
3. Drainage Details 

Detailed drainage proposals may typically include: 

 Detailed drainage network layout 

 Manhole schedule 

 Construction details for drainage elements 

 Construction details for SUDS elements 

 Hydraulic modelling calculations 

 Exceedance flow routes (including proposed ground levels) 

 
Drainage maintenance and management information may typically include: 

 Drainage ownership/responsibility layout 

 Maintenance schedules 

 Maintenance agreements 

 Adoption agreements 

 Schedules for replacement of drainage components (where design life is less than the 

lifetime of the proposed development) 

 Operations and maintenance manuals 

 
4. Highway and Surface Water/Loose Material 

60



The applicant is advised that in order to avoid contravention of highways legislation, provision shall 
be made in the design of the access/drive to ensure that no surface water or loose material 

drains/spills directly from the site onto the highway. 
 
5. Legal Agreement 

This grant of permission is to be read in conjunction with the Legal Agreement dated INSERT 
REQUIRED entered into between BCP Council and INSERT REQUIRED. 

 
6. CIL Liable 

The applicant needs to be aware that the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) will be applied to this 
development. The Council will shortly be issuing a CIL Liability Notice following the grant of this 
permission which will provide information on the applicant’s obligations. 

 
7. Bats Maybe Present 

The applicant is advised that bats are protected in the UK by Schedule 5 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 and Part 3 of the Conservation of Natural Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017 and they are also protected by European and International Law. Work should proceed with 

caution and if any bats are found, all work should cease, the area in which the bats have been found 
should be made secure and advice sought from National Bat Helpline (tel: 0345 1300 228). website 

https://www.bats.org.uk/our-work/national-bat-helpline. 
 
8. European Protected Species Mitigation Licence 

A bat European Protected Species (EPS) mitigation licence from Natural England will be required 
to have been issued prior to any works commencing. An EPS licence is required to ensure the works 

are lawful. It is the responsibility of the applicant to arrange for application of the EPS licence. 
 
9. Biodiversity Net Gain (Approval Required) 

The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 is that 
planning permission granted for the development of land in England is deemed to have been granted 

subject to the condition (“the biodiversity gain condition”) that development may not begin unless: 
(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and (b) the planning 
authority has approved the plan. The planning authority, for the purposes of determining whether to 

approve a Biodiversity Gain Plan if one is required in respect of this permission would be 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council. There are statutory exemptions and transitional 

arrangements which mean that the biodiversity gain condition does not always apply. These are 
listed in paragraph 17 of Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the 
Biodiversity Gain Requirements (Exemptions) Regulations 2024.  

 
Based on the information available this permission is considered to be one which will require the 

approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun because none of the statutory 
exemptions or transitional arrangements listed are considered to apply. 
 

If the onsite habitat includes irreplaceable habitat (within the meaning of the Biodiversity Gain 
Requirements (Irreplaceable Habitat) Regulations 2024) there are additional requirements for the 

content and approval of Biodiversity Gain Plans.  
 
The Biodiversity Gain Plan must include, in addition to information about steps taken or to be taken 

to minimise any adverse effect of the development on the habitat, information on arrangements for 
compensation for any impact the development has on the biodiversity of the irreplaceable habitat. 

 
The planning authority can only approve a Biodiversity Gain Plan if satisfied that the adverse effect 
of the development on the biodiversity of the irreplaceable habitat is minimised and appropriate 

arrangements have been made for the purpose of compensating for any impact which do not include 
the use of biodiversity credits. 

 

61



If planning permission is granted on an application made under section 73 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (application to develop land without compliance with conditions previously 

attached) and a Biodiversity Gain Plan was approved in relation to the previous planning permission 
(“the earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan”) there are circumstances when the earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan 

is regarded as approved for the purpose of discharging the biodiversity gain condition subject to 
which the section 73 planning permission is granted. 
 

Those circumstances are that the conditions subject to which the section 73 permission is granted: 

 do not affect the post-development value of the onsite habitat as specified in the earlier 

Biodiversity Gain Plan, and 

 in the case of planning permission for a development where all or any part of the onsite 

habitat is irreplaceable habitat the conditions do not change the effect of the development on 
the biodiversity of that onsite habitat (including any arrangements made to compensate for 
any such effect) as specified in the earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan. 

 
Background Documents: 

 

Documents relevant to this application and Officer Report have been uploaded to the Council’s 

website and is publicly accessible, and includes all formal consultation responses and 

representations submitted in respect of the application. 

 

 
Case Officer Report Completed 
Officer: DHE 

Date: 16/10/2025 
 

Agreed by: Katie Herrington 
Date: 27/10/2025 
Comment: 

 

62



10m @ 1:200

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED
ROOM 3

BED
ROOM 2MASTER

BEDROOM

E / S

UT
IL

ITY
 C

UP
B.

ST.

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BED
ROOM 2

MASTER
BEDROOM

BATH

BED
ROOM 3

E / S

ST.

E / S

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED
ROOM 3

BED
ROOM 2

MASTER
BEDROOM

E / S

ST.

UT
IL

ITY
 C

UP
B.

ST.

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED
ROOM 3

BED
ROOM 2

MASTER
BEDROOM

E / S

ST.

UT
IL

ITY
 C

UP
B.

ST.

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED
ROOM 2

MASTER
BEDROOM

E / S

BED
ROOM 3

UTILITY CUPB.

ST.

ST.

UTILITY
CUPB.

ST.

400

LIFT

400

LIFT
400

LIFT

BALCONY

BALCONY
BALCONY

BALCONY

BALCONY
BALCONY

BALCONY

BALCONY

9

10

11 12

13

14 15 16

BALCONY

BALCONY BALCONY BALCONY BALCONY

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BED
ROOM 2MASTER

BEDROOM

BATH

E / S

ST.

UTILITY CUPB.

SE
RV

.

SE
RV

.

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BED
ROOM 2MASTER

BEDROOM

BATH

E / S

ST.

UTILITY CUPB.

OBSCURE
GLAZING

OBSCURE
GLAZING

OBSCURE
GLAZING

1.8m
PRIVACY
SCREEN

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED
ROOM 2

MASTER
BEDROOM

E / S

STORE /
COATS

ST.

ST.

E / S

17

18

19 20

21

22 23
24

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED
ROOM 3

BED
ROOM 2MASTER

BEDROOM

E / S

UT
IL

ITY
 C

UP
B.

ST.

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BED
ROOM 2

MASTER
BEDROOM

BATH

BED
ROOM 3

E / S

ST.

E / S

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED
ROOM 3

BED
ROOM 2

MASTER
BEDROOM

E / S

ST.

UT
IL

ITY
 C

UP
B.

ST.

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED
ROOM 3

BED
ROOM 2

MASTER
BEDROOM

E / S

ST.

UT
IL

ITY
 C

UP
B.

ST.

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED
ROOM 2

MASTER
BEDROOM

E / S

BED
ROOM 3

UTILITY CUPB.

ST.

ST.

UTILITY
CUPB.

ST.

400

LIFT

400

LIFT

400

LIFT

BALCONY

BALCONY
BALCONY

BALCONY

BALCONY
BALCONY

BALCONY

BALCONY

BALCONY

BALCONY
BALCONY

BALCONY

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BED
ROOM 2MASTER

BEDROOM

BATH

E / S

ST.

UTILITY CUPB.

SE
RV

.

SE
RV

.

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BED
ROOM 2MASTER

BEDROOM

BATH

E / S

ST.

UTILITY CUPB.

OBSCURE
GLAZING

OBSCURE
GLAZING

OBSCURE
GLAZING

1.8m
PRIVACY
SCREEN

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED
ROOM 2

MASTER
BEDROOM

E / S

STORE /
COATS

ST.

ST.

E / S

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BED
ROOM 2MASTER

BEDROOM

BATH

E / S

ST.

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED
ROOM 3

BED
ROOM 2MASTER

BEDROOM

E / S

UT
IL

ITY
 C

UP
B.

ST.

UTILITY CUPB.

25

26

27 28 30 31
32

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BED
ROOM 2

MASTER
BEDROOM

BATH

BED
ROOM 3

E / S

ST.

E / S

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED
ROOM 3

BED
ROOM 2

MASTER
BEDROOM

E / S

ST.

UT
IL

ITY
 C

UP
B.

ST.

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED
ROOM 3

BED
ROOM 2

MASTER
BEDROOM

E / S

ST.

UT
IL

ITY
 C

UP
B.

ST.

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED
ROOM 2

MASTER
BEDROOM

E / S

BED
ROOM 3

UTILITY CUPB.

ST.

ST.

UTILITY
CUPB.

ST.

400

LIFT

400

LIFT

400

LIFT

BALCONY

BALCONY
BALCONY

BALCONY

BALCONY
BALCONY

BALCONY

BALCONY

BALCONY

BALCONY BALCONY
BALCONY

BALCONY

29

SE
RV

.

SE
RV

.

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BED
ROOM 2MASTER

BEDROOM

BATH

E / S

ST.

UTILITY CUPB.

OBSCURE
GLAZING

OBSCURE
GLAZING

OBSCURE
GLAZING

1.8m
PRIVACY
SCREEN

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED
ROOM 2

MASTER
BEDROOM

E / S

STORE /
COATS

ST.

ST.

E / S

LEGEND 

9491 / 703

AS SHOWN @ A1

Revision.No. bydate

date

scale

drawn

checked

TC / BC

ARC Architecture ltd.
Chapel Studios, 14 Purewell,

Tel:             +44 (0 )1202 479919

Christchurch, Dorset, BH23 1EP

E-mail:        enquiries@andersrobertscheer.co.uk
Web:          www.andersrobertscheer.co.uk

BC

NOTES-PLANNING 
1. The contents of this drawing are copyright.
2. Planning drawings are only to be used for planning purposes & no reliance on compliance with Building regulations
should be assumed.
3. Drawings must be read as a complete pack and not individually.
4. Do not scale. Figured dimensions only to be used.     
5. Contractors must verify all dimensions and report any discrepancies before putting work in hand or
 making any shop drawings.
6. All flat roofs to be fitted with a man safe system to satisfy CDM 2015 regulations unless written
 confirmation from Principle Designer/ Principle Contractor is provided to show alternative compliance
 has been sought and approved.
7. Stair design to be independently checked by stair fabricator for regs. compliance and sizing, prior to
 construction/ ordering. Dimensions to be checked before fabrication.
8. Maclennan waterproofing specialists (or similar company with relevant PI insurance) to be instructed and detail all
basement waterproofing designs. - ARC carry no responsibility or PI cover for basement designs in terms of
waterproofing or structure in any way.
9. A design and risk assessment should form part of our drawing package, if you have not received this
from us by post, email or collection please contact us for a copy before moving forward with the project.
10. We take no responsibility for the depicted site ownership boundary. Clients must notify us if they feel the our plans
do not accurately depict their ownership or area of control for planning purposes.
11. We do not take responsibility for meeting minimum space as setout in Government Technical housing standards -
nationally described space standards document.
12. All Cladding & building attachments externally to be all A1 fire rated.
FIRE: We do NOT take any responsibility and do not carry any PI cover in relation to any matters relating to fire
safety, Part B building regulations, BS 9991 for fire or EWS1 and drawings in no way form a fire strategy/ report. All
design/ details relating to Fire Safety are shown for indicative purposes only and should be read in conjunction with
the latest version of the Appointed Fire Consultant Fire Strategy Document/ Report - all information contained in such
a report supersedes ARC drawings in all aspects. No assumption of any responsibility is accepted. If you are unaware
who the appointed fire consultant is or don't have a copy of the latest version of the report please contact arc in writing
immediately.
EWS1: an independent and an appropriately qualified and insured fire consultant/engineer should be appointed by the
client/contractor to ensure the finished project is compliant. Some mortgage companies require EWS1's on buildings
outside of the EWS1 standard criteria.
Part B & Fire Safety: An independent and appropriately qualified fire consultant should be instructed by the
client/contractor at the earliest possible point in the design process to ensure compliance with Part B & Fire safety.
Please note that subject to a fire consultants confirmation/input the following points may be required in some or all
areas of the building; 1) Sprinkler systems (Domestic or commercial) 2) Mechanical smoke extraction  3) Fixed shut
fire safety glass 4) some sprinkler systems require large holding tanks 5) plan changes in relation to fire safety could
result in loss of salable floor area and potential requirement for additional planning applications. (this list is not
exhaustive)

Windows forming the overheating strategy with a change in floor level exceeding 600mm between inside and outside require
1.1m guarding (APD O diagram 3.1).

rev-30-07-24

PROPOSED FIRST, SECOND AND
THIRD FLOOR PLAN

172 CANFORD CLIFFS ROAD,
POOLE, DORSET,
BH13 7ES.

COMMERCIAL SPRINKLERS

A commercial sprinkler system may be required to the entire building subject to fire
consultants confirmation. Commercial  sprinklers require substantial holding tanks that need
to be designed into the scheme (in some situations these can be subterranean tanks).
- client should appoint a qualified Fire Consultant as soon as possible to confirm
requirements, spec and constraints.

BASEMENT CAR PARKS OR STORAGE

· Additional means of escape/evacuation (stairs / lifts / ramps) may be required
subject to Fire Consultants input, allowance made by ARC are purely indicative.

· Mechanical &/(or) natural ventilation may be required subject to fire consultant /
specialist input.

· Commercial or standard sprinkler system may be required subject to fire consultants
confirmation & specification (Large water holding tank maybe required in some
situations can be subterranean).

· Basement structure should be considered with fire consultant & structural engineer to
ensure increased fire protection due to presence or future potential of electric car
charging facilities and associated increased risks.

PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN
SCALE 1:200

FIRST FLOOR -

FLOOR SCHEDULE

SECOND FLOOR - 1041 sq.m / 11205 sq.ft

UNIT 9 - 3 BED - 

ACCOMMODATION SCHEDULE
105 sq.m / 1130 sq.ft

UNIT 10 - 2 BED - 93 sq.m / 1001 sq.ft

UNIT 11 - 2 BED - 114 sq.m / 1227 sq.ft

UNIT 12 - 3 BED - 114 sq.m / 1227 sq.ft

UNIT 13 - 2 BED - 93 sq.m / 1001 sq.ft

UNIT 14 - 3 BED - 114 sq.m / 1227 sq.ft

UNIT 15 - 3 BED - 114 sq.m / 1227 sq.ft

UNIT 16 - 3 BED - 135 sq.m / 1453 sq.ft

PROPOSED SECOND FLOOR PLAN
SCALE 1:200

PROPOSED THIRD FLOOR PLAN
SCALE 1:200

THIRD FLOOR - 1041 sq.m / 11205 sq.ft

1041 sq.m / 11205 sq.ft

UNIT 17 - 3 BED - 105 sq.m / 1130 sq.ft

UNIT 18 - 2 BED - 93 sq.m / 1001 sq.ft

UNIT 19 - 2 BED - 114 sq.m / 1227 sq.ft

UNIT 20 - 3 BED - 114 sq.m / 1227 sq.ft

UNIT 21 - 2 BED - 93 sq.m / 1001 sq.ft

UNIT 22 - 3 BED - 114 sq.m / 1227 sq.ft

UNIT 23 - 3 BED - 114 sq.m / 1227 sq.ft

UNIT 24 - 3 BED - 135 sq.m / 1453 sq.ft

UNIT 25 - 3 BED - 105 sq.m / 1130 sq.ft

UNIT 26 - 2 BED - 93 sq.m / 1001 sq.ft

UNIT 27 - 2 BED - 114 sq.m / 1227 sq.ft

UNIT 28 - 3 BED - 114 sq.m / 1227 sq.ft

UNIT 29 - 2 BED - 93 sq.m / 1001 sq.ft

UNIT 30 - 3 BED - 114 sq.m / 1227 sq.ft

UNIT 31 - 3 BED - 114 sq.m / 1227 sq.ft

UNIT 32 - 3 BED - 135 sq.m / 1453 sq.ft

JUNE 2025

Fire consultant changesA TC04.02.25

A

planning consultant changesB TC09.06.25

B

schedule amendedC TC17.06.25

C

schedule amendedD TC17.06.25

D

63



T
his page is intentionally left blank

64



10m @ 1:200

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BED
ROOM 2

MASTER
BEDROOM

BATH

BED
ROOM 3

E / S

ST.

E / S

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED
ROOM 3

BED
ROOM 2

MASTER
BEDROOM

E / S

ST.

UT
IL

ITY
 C

UP
B.

ST.

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED
ROOM 3

BED
ROOM 2

MASTER
BEDROOM

E / S

ST.

UT
IL

ITY
 C

UP
B.

ST.

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED
ROOM 2

MASTER
BEDROOM

E / S

BED
ROOM 3

UTILITY CUPB.

ST.

ST.

UTILITY
CUPB.

ST.

33

34 35 37 38
39

36

400

LIFT

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BED
ROOM 2MASTER

BEDROOM

BATH

E / S

UTILITY CUPB.

400

LIFT

400

LIFT

BALCONY

BALCONY
BALCONY

BALCONY

BALCONY
BALCONY

BALCONY

BALCONY
BALCONY

BALCONY
BALCONY

BALCONY

SE
RV

.

SE
RV

.

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BED
ROOM 2MASTER

BEDROOM

BATH

E / S

ST.

UTILITY CUPB.

OBSCURE
GLAZING

OBSCURE
GLAZING

OBSCURE
GLAZING

1.8m
PRIVACY
SCREEN

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED
ROOM 2

MASTER
BEDROOM

E / S

STORE /
COATS

ST.

ST.

E / S

400400

400

LIFTLIFTLIFT

LIVING

BED
ROOM 2

MASTER
BEDROOM

ST.

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED
ROOM 3

BED
ROOM 2MASTER

BEDROOM

E / S

UT
IL

ITY
 C

UP
B.

ST.

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED
ROOM 2 MASTER

BEDROOM

E / S

ST.

ST.

ST.

E / S

E / S

E / S
ST.

BED
ROOM 3

BED
ROOM 4

BATH

DINING

ST. ST.

UTILITY
KITCHEN

BED
ROOM 2MASTER

BEDROOM

UTILITY

E / S
ST.

BED
ROOM 3

BED
ROOM 4

BATH

DINING

ST.ST.

E / S

E / S

LIVING

KITCHEN

40

41 42 43 44

BALCONY

BALCONY
BALCONY

BALCONY

BALCONY

BALCONY
BALCONY

BALCONY BALCONY

SE
RV

.

LIVING

DINING

KITCHEN

BED
ROOM 2MASTER

BEDROOM

BATH

E / S

UTILITY CUPB.

SE
RV

.

ST /
COATS

1.
8M

 O
BS

C
UR

ED
 P

RI
V

A
C

Y 
SC

RE
EN

BALCONY

E / S

LEGEND 

9491 / 704

AS SHOWN @ A1

Revision.No. bydate

date

scale

drawn

checked

TC / BC

ARC Architecture ltd.
Chapel Studios, 14 Purewell,

Tel:             +44 (0 )1202 479919

Christchurch, Dorset, BH23 1EP

E-mail:        enquiries@andersrobertscheer.co.uk
Web:          www.andersrobertscheer.co.uk

BC

NOTES-PLANNING 
1. The contents of this drawing are copyright.
2. Planning drawings are only to be used for planning purposes & no reliance on compliance with Building regulations
should be assumed.
3. Drawings must be read as a complete pack and not individually.
4. Do not scale. Figured dimensions only to be used.     
5. Contractors must verify all dimensions and report any discrepancies before putting work in hand or
 making any shop drawings.
6. All flat roofs to be fitted with a man safe system to satisfy CDM 2015 regulations unless written
 confirmation from Principle Designer/ Principle Contractor is provided to show alternative compliance
 has been sought and approved.
7. Stair design to be independently checked by stair fabricator for regs. compliance and sizing, prior to
 construction/ ordering. Dimensions to be checked before fabrication.
8. Maclennan waterproofing specialists (or similar company with relevant PI insurance) to be instructed and detail all
basement waterproofing designs. - ARC carry no responsibility or PI cover for basement designs in terms of
waterproofing or structure in any way.
9. A design and risk assessment should form part of our drawing package, if you have not received this
from us by post, email or collection please contact us for a copy before moving forward with the project.
10. We take no responsibility for the depicted site ownership boundary. Clients must notify us if they feel the our plans
do not accurately depict their ownership or area of control for planning purposes.
11. We do not take responsibility for meeting minimum space as setout in Government Technical housing standards -
nationally described space standards document.
12. All Cladding & building attachments externally to be all A1 fire rated.
FIRE: We do NOT take any responsibility and do not carry any PI cover in relation to any matters relating to fire
safety, Part B building regulations, BS 9991 for fire or EWS1 and drawings in no way form a fire strategy/ report. All
design/ details relating to Fire Safety are shown for indicative purposes only and should be read in conjunction with
the latest version of the Appointed Fire Consultant Fire Strategy Document/ Report - all information contained in such
a report supersedes ARC drawings in all aspects. No assumption of any responsibility is accepted. If you are unaware
who the appointed fire consultant is or don't have a copy of the latest version of the report please contact arc in writing
immediately.
EWS1: an independent and an appropriately qualified and insured fire consultant/engineer should be appointed by the
client/contractor to ensure the finished project is compliant. Some mortgage companies require EWS1's on buildings
outside of the EWS1 standard criteria.
Part B & Fire Safety: An independent and appropriately qualified fire consultant should be instructed by the
client/contractor at the earliest possible point in the design process to ensure compliance with Part B & Fire safety.
Please note that subject to a fire consultants confirmation/input the following points may be required in some or all
areas of the building; 1) Sprinkler systems (Domestic or commercial) 2) Mechanical smoke extraction  3) Fixed shut
fire safety glass 4) some sprinkler systems require large holding tanks 5) plan changes in relation to fire safety could
result in loss of salable floor area and potential requirement for additional planning applications. (this list is not
exhaustive)

Windows forming the overheating strategy with a change in floor level exceeding 600mm between inside and outside require
1.1m guarding (APD O diagram 3.1).

rev-30-07-24

PROPOSED FOURTH, FIFTH FLOOR PLAN
AND ROOF PLAN

172 CANFORD CLIFFS ROAD,
POOLE, DORSET,
BH13 7ES.

COMMERCIAL SPRINKLERS

A commercial sprinkler system may be required to the entire building subject to fire
consultants confirmation. Commercial  sprinklers require substantial holding tanks that need
to be designed into the scheme (in some situations these can be subterranean tanks).
- client should appoint a qualified Fire Consultant as soon as possible to confirm
requirements, spec and constraints.

BASEMENT CAR PARKS OR STORAGE

· Additional means of escape/evacuation (stairs / lifts / ramps) may be required
subject to Fire Consultants input, allowance made by ARC are purely indicative.

· Mechanical &/(or) natural ventilation may be required subject to fire consultant /
specialist input.

· Commercial or standard sprinkler system may be required subject to fire consultants
confirmation & specification (Large water holding tank maybe required in some
situations can be subterranean).

· Basement structure should be considered with fire consultant & structural engineer to
ensure increased fire protection due to presence or future potential of electric car
charging facilities and associated increased risks.

PROPOSED FOURTH FLOOR PLAN
SCALE 1:200

FOURTH FLOOR -

FLOOR SCHEDULE

FIFTH FLOOR - 841 sq.m / 9052 sq.ft

UNIT 33 - 3 BED - 

ACCOMMODATION SCHEDULE

UNIT 34 - 2 BED - 

105 sq.m / 1130 sq.ft

UNIT 35 - 3 BED - 

114 sq.m / 1227 sq.ft

UNIT 36 - 2 BED - 

114 sq.m / 1227 sq.ft

UNIT 37 - 3 BED - 

93 sq.m / 1001 sq.ft

UNIT 38 - 3 BED - 

114 sq.m / 1227 sq.ft

UNIT 39 - 3 BED - 

114 sq.m / 1227 sq.ft

135 sq.m / 1453 sq.ft

PROPOSED FIFTH FLOOR PLAN
SCALE 1:200

PROPOSED ROOF PLAN
SCALE 1:200

944 sq.m / 10161 sq.ft

UNIT 40 - 3 BED - 105 sq.m / 1130 sq.ft

UNIT 41 - 2 BED - 

UNIT 42 - 3 BED - 

UNIT 43 - 4 BED - 203 sq.m / 2185 sq.ft

UNIT 44 - 4 BED - 175 sq.m / 1883 sq.ft

105 sq.m / 1130 sq.ft

105 sq.m / 1130 sq.ft

Revised floor plansA. TC18.12.24

A

Fire consultant changesB TC04.02.25

B

JUNE 2025

planning consultant changesC TC09.06.25

C

schedule amendedD TC17.06.25

D

schedule amendedE TC27.06.25

E

65



T
his page is intentionally left blank

66



10m @ 1:200

APARTMENTS - FIFTH FLOOR

APARTMENTS - FOURTH FLOOR

APARTMENTS - THIRD FLOOR

APARTMENTS - SECOND FLOOR

APARTMENTS - FIRST FLOOR

APARTMENTS - GROUND FLOOR

BASEMENT PARKING

CANFORD CLIFFS ROAD

15m @ 1:250

LEGEND 

9491 / 705

AS SHOWN @ A1

Revision.No. bydate

date

scale

drawn

checked

TC / BC

ARC Architecture ltd.
Chapel Studios, 14 Purewell,

Tel:             +44 (0 )1202 479919

Christchurch, Dorset, BH23 1EP

E-mail:        enquiries@andersrobertscheer.co.uk
Web:          www.andersrobertscheer.co.uk

BC

NOTES-PLANNING 
1. The contents of this drawing are copyright.
2. Planning drawings are only to be used for planning purposes & no reliance on compliance with Building regulations
should be assumed.
3. Drawings must be read as a complete pack and not individually.
4. Do not scale. Figured dimensions only to be used.     
5. Contractors must verify all dimensions and report any discrepancies before putting work in hand or
 making any shop drawings.
6. All flat roofs to be fitted with a man safe system to satisfy CDM 2015 regulations unless written
 confirmation from Principle Designer/ Principle Contractor is provided to show alternative compliance
 has been sought and approved.
7. Stair design to be independently checked by stair fabricator for regs. compliance and sizing, prior to
 construction/ ordering. Dimensions to be checked before fabrication.
8. Maclennan waterproofing specialists (or similar company with relevant PI insurance) to be instructed and detail all
basement waterproofing designs. - ARC carry no responsibility or PI cover for basement designs in terms of
waterproofing or structure in any way.
9. A design and risk assessment should form part of our drawing package, if you have not received this
from us by post, email or collection please contact us for a copy before moving forward with the project.
10. We take no responsibility for the depicted site ownership boundary. Clients must notify us if they feel the our plans
do not accurately depict their ownership or area of control for planning purposes.
11. We do not take responsibility for meeting minimum space as setout in Government Technical housing standards -
nationally described space standards document.
12. All Cladding & building attachments externally to be all A1 fire rated.
FIRE: We do NOT take any responsibility and do not carry any PI cover in relation to any matters relating to fire
safety, Part B building regulations, BS 9991 for fire or EWS1 and drawings in no way form a fire strategy/ report. All
design/ details relating to Fire Safety are shown for indicative purposes only and should be read in conjunction with
the latest version of the Appointed Fire Consultant Fire Strategy Document/ Report - all information contained in such
a report supersedes ARC drawings in all aspects. No assumption of any responsibility is accepted. If you are unaware
who the appointed fire consultant is or don't have a copy of the latest version of the report please contact arc in writing
immediately.
EWS1: an independent and an appropriately qualified and insured fire consultant/engineer should be appointed by the
client/contractor to ensure the finished project is compliant. Some mortgage companies require EWS1's on buildings
outside of the EWS1 standard criteria.
Part B & Fire Safety: An independent and appropriately qualified fire consultant should be instructed by the
client/contractor at the earliest possible point in the design process to ensure compliance with Part B & Fire safety.
Please note that subject to a fire consultants confirmation/input the following points may be required in some or all
areas of the building; 1) Sprinkler systems (Domestic or commercial) 2) Mechanical smoke extraction  3) Fixed shut
fire safety glass 4) some sprinkler systems require large holding tanks 5) plan changes in relation to fire safety could
result in loss of salable floor area and potential requirement for additional planning applications. (this list is not
exhaustive)

Windows forming the overheating strategy with a change in floor level exceeding 600mm between inside and outside require
1.1m guarding (APD O diagram 3.1).

rev-30-07-24

PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION ( EAST )
AND SIDE ELEVATION 1 ( SOUTH )

172 CANFORD CLIFFS ROAD,
POOLE, DORSET,
BH13 7ES.

COMMERCIAL SPRINKLERS

A commercial sprinkler system may be required to the entire building subject to fire
consultants confirmation. Commercial  sprinklers require substantial holding tanks
that need to be designed into the scheme (in some situations these can be
subterranean tanks).
- client should appoint a qualified Fire Consultant as soon as possible to confirm
requirements, spec and constraints.

BASEMENT CAR PARKS OR STORAGE

· Additional means of escape/evacuation (stairs / lifts / ramps) may be required
subject to Fire Consultants input, allowance made by ARC are purely indicative.

· Mechanical &/(or) natural ventilation may be required subject to fire consultant /
specialist input.

· Commercial or standard sprinkler system may be required subject to fire
consultants confirmation & specification (Large water holding tank maybe
required in some situations can be subterranean).

· Basement structure should be considered with fire consultant & structural
engineer to ensure increased fire protection due to presence or future potential
of electric car charging facilities and associated increased risks.

PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION ( EAST )
SCALE 1:200

PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION 1 ( SOUTH )
SCALE 1:200

MATERIALS SCHEDULE:

. FLAT ROOFROOF:-

. GREY WINDOWS AND DOORSWINDOWS & DOORS:-

. BRICKWORK

. METAL CLADDING

. RENDER

EXTERNAL WALLS:-

Note: All materials to be confirmed by fire consultant prior to construction. The
above material choices are for planning/aesthetic purposes only and confirmation
of fire performance should agreed with specialist. (fixing system behind cladding
should also be non combustible A1 or A2 rated and agreed with fire consultant)

EXISTING
GROUND
LEVEL

PROPOSED
GROUND
LEVEL

Client /fire changesA TC20.12.24

A

Walkway changeB TC10.01.25

B

Section addedC TC21.01.25

C

INDICATIVE SITE SECTION - SCLAE 1:250

TOPOGRAPHICAL SURVEY
INFORMATION PROVIDED BY PLANET SURVEYING COMPANY

Fire consultant changesD TC04.02.25

D

INDICATIVE CGI INDICATIVE CGI INDICATIVE CGI
CGI addedE TC02.04.25

E

JUNE 2025

planning consultant changesF TC09.06.25

F

planning consultant changesG TC17.06.25

G

67



T
his page is intentionally left blank

68



10m @ 1:200

APARTMENTS - FIFTH FLOOR

APARTMENTS - FOURTH FLOOR

APARTMENTS - THIRD FLOOR

APARTMENTS - SECOND FLOOR

APARTMENTS - FIRST FLOOR

APARTMENTS - GROUND FLOOR

BASEMENT PARKING

CANFORD CLIFFS ROAD

LEGEND 

9491 / 706

AS SHOWN @ A1

Revision.No. bydate

date

scale

drawn

checked

TC / BC

ARC Architecture ltd.
Chapel Studios, 14 Purewell,

Tel:             +44 (0 )1202 479919

Christchurch, Dorset, BH23 1EP

E-mail:        enquiries@andersrobertscheer.co.uk
Web:          www.andersrobertscheer.co.uk

BC

NOTES-PLANNING 
1. The contents of this drawing are copyright.
2. Planning drawings are only to be used for planning purposes & no reliance on compliance with Building regulations
should be assumed.
3. Drawings must be read as a complete pack and not individually.
4. Do not scale. Figured dimensions only to be used.     
5. Contractors must verify all dimensions and report any discrepancies before putting work in hand or
 making any shop drawings.
6. All flat roofs to be fitted with a man safe system to satisfy CDM 2015 regulations unless written
 confirmation from Principle Designer/ Principle Contractor is provided to show alternative compliance
 has been sought and approved.
7. Stair design to be independently checked by stair fabricator for regs. compliance and sizing, prior to
 construction/ ordering. Dimensions to be checked before fabrication.
8. Maclennan waterproofing specialists (or similar company with relevant PI insurance) to be instructed and detail all
basement waterproofing designs. - ARC carry no responsibility or PI cover for basement designs in terms of
waterproofing or structure in any way.
9. A design and risk assessment should form part of our drawing package, if you have not received this
from us by post, email or collection please contact us for a copy before moving forward with the project.
10. We take no responsibility for the depicted site ownership boundary. Clients must notify us if they feel the our plans
do not accurately depict their ownership or area of control for planning purposes.
11. We do not take responsibility for meeting minimum space as setout in Government Technical housing standards -
nationally described space standards document.
12. All Cladding & building attachments externally to be all A1 fire rated.
FIRE: We do NOT take any responsibility and do not carry any PI cover in relation to any matters relating to fire
safety, Part B building regulations, BS 9991 for fire or EWS1 and drawings in no way form a fire strategy/ report. All
design/ details relating to Fire Safety are shown for indicative purposes only and should be read in conjunction with
the latest version of the Appointed Fire Consultant Fire Strategy Document/ Report - all information contained in such
a report supersedes ARC drawings in all aspects. No assumption of any responsibility is accepted. If you are unaware
who the appointed fire consultant is or don't have a copy of the latest version of the report please contact arc in writing
immediately.
EWS1: an independent and an appropriately qualified and insured fire consultant/engineer should be appointed by the
client/contractor to ensure the finished project is compliant. Some mortgage companies require EWS1's on buildings
outside of the EWS1 standard criteria.
Part B & Fire Safety: An independent and appropriately qualified fire consultant should be instructed by the
client/contractor at the earliest possible point in the design process to ensure compliance with Part B & Fire safety.
Please note that subject to a fire consultants confirmation/input the following points may be required in some or all
areas of the building; 1) Sprinkler systems (Domestic or commercial) 2) Mechanical smoke extraction  3) Fixed shut
fire safety glass 4) some sprinkler systems require large holding tanks 5) plan changes in relation to fire safety could
result in loss of salable floor area and potential requirement for additional planning applications. (this list is not
exhaustive)

Windows forming the overheating strategy with a change in floor level exceeding 600mm between inside and outside require
1.1m guarding (APD O diagram 3.1).

rev-30-07-24

PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION ( WEST )
AND SIDE ELEVATION 2 ( NORTH )

172 CANFORD CLIFFS ROAD,
POOLE, DORSET,
BH13 7ES.

PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION ( WEST )
SCALE 1:200 PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION 2 ( NORTH )

SCALE 1:200 MATERIALS SCHEDULE:

.  FLAT ROOFROOF:-

. GREY WINDOWS AND DOORSWINDOWS & DOORS:-

. BRICKWORK

. METAL CLADDING

. RENDER

EXTERNAL WALLS:-

Note: All materials to be confirmed by fire consultant prior to construction. The
above material choices are for planning/aesthetic purposes only and confirmation
of fire performance should agreed with specialist. (fixing system behind cladding
should also be non combustible A1 or A2 rated and agreed with fire consultant)

COMMERCIAL SPRINKLERS

A commercial sprinkler system may be required to the entire building subject to fire
consultants confirmation. Commercial  sprinklers require substantial holding tanks
that need to be designed into the scheme (in some situations these can be
subterranean tanks).
- client should appoint a qualified Fire Consultant as soon as possible to confirm
requirements, spec and constraints.

BASEMENT CAR PARKS OR STORAGE

· Additional means of escape/evacuation (stairs / lifts / ramps) may be required
subject to Fire Consultants input, allowance made by ARC are purely indicative.

· Mechanical &/(or) natural ventilation may be required subject to fire consultant /
specialist input.

· Commercial or standard sprinkler system may be required subject to fire
consultants confirmation & specification (Large water holding tank maybe
required in some situations can be subterranean).

· Basement structure should be considered with fire consultant & structural
engineer to ensure increased fire protection due to presence or future potential
of electric car charging facilities and associated increased risks.

INDICATIVE CGI

Client /fire changesA TC20.12.24

A

Walkway changeB TC10.01.25

B

Section addedC TC21.01.25

C

INDICATIVE SITE SECTION - SCALE 1:250

TOPOGRAPHICAL SURVEY
INFORMATION PROVIDED BY PLANET SURVEYING COMPANY

Fire consultant changesD TC04.02.25

D

INDICATIVE CGI INDICATIVE CGI
CGI addedE TC02.04.25

E
JUNE 2025

planning consultant changesF TC09.06.25

F

EXISTING
GROUND
LEVEL

PROPOSED
GROUND
LEVEL

planning consultant changesG TC17.06.25

G

69



T
his page is intentionally left blank

70



48.202

STATION44.581

50.38

44.23

48.92

49.05

47.31

48.59

45.35

44.37

49.59

GY
44.07

44.13

IC CL

GY

WALL

HT 1.1

44.174

11

36.79

32.16

30.37

STATION50.000

2

46.055

STATION

STATION

4

5

44.261

STATION

STATION

3

44.148

STATION

6

47.809

7

2A

50.04

50.34

50.23

49.38

49.69

49.72

49.9649.96

49.72

48.31

49.28

47.06

48.9248.92

48.13

48.1948.19

47.97

47.06

47.00

48.13

48.03

CLF

47.62

47.03

47.35

HT 1.1

48.59

48.29

48.28

48.06

48.29

48.28

47.67

48.86

47.19

49.49

48.06

46.77

46.27

49.46

49.78

47.96

46.91

48.08

48.97

220E

50.25

50.24

280E

50.24
47.86

47.14

47.69

47.64

47.26

48.70

47.08

48.41

48.70

46.57

46.16

45.47
44.53 44.45

44.40

46.57

46.07

47.37

43.87

44.28

44.17

45.28

44.00

45.87

44.11

45.52

45.64

46.97

44.25

49.21

49.52

49.76

48.94

47.38

49.17
49.44

49.87

48.98

49.07

50.42

46.17

46.68

46.76

46.34

48.02

49.80

50.19

41.55 45.38

50.34
49.09

46.61

50.45

47.43

44.53

50.46

44.75

44.21

44.14

44.41

44.31

45.27

44.30

44.23

EAVE 62.715

EAVE 59.298

EAVE 61.829

50.09
IC CL

IC CL
50.26

40.38

50.0649.22

48.59

60.48
Ridge Level

Ridge Level61.11

60.18Ridge Level

Ridge Level60.19

49.07
IC CL

GY

47.35
IC CL

41.97
48.01

46.07
44.23

47.25

46.94
IC CL

IC CL

IC CL
47.06

47.45

47.35IC CL

48.05
IC CL

GY

GY

47.74

47.52
47.60

48.35

49.04

46.13
IC CL

44.15

GY GY

IC CL

IC CL
44.06

48.21

MH CL

MH CL

48.04

48.12
MH CL

GY

GY

47.92

GY

47.79

IC CL
44.29

EL SUBSTATION

C
AN

FO
R

D
 C

LIFFS R
O

AD

CBF
HT 1.8

CBF

CLF
HT 1.8

HT 2.1

HT 2.1

CBF

WALLHT 0.6-1.7

TARMAC

EXTENT OF
BUSHES TREE CANOPY

EXTENT OFTREE CANOPY

TREE CANOPY

EXTENT OF

SOIL

WALL

WALL

HT 1.0-1.7

BUSHES

HT 1.0-1.7

FLOWER BED

HT 0.9

HT 0.75

WALL

CLF

CLF
HT 1.4

HT 1.2

BUSHES

NAME BOARD

STATION

8

40.269

9
STATION

STATION

STATION

36.656

10

43.70

34.392

44.03

45.02

45.34

45.84

45.41

45.58

45.96

34.94

37.24

32.28

33.87

35.75

36.58

34.77

33.09

35.29

36.86

37.06

44.03

44.08

41.31

41.87

43.00

37.96

45.67

38.73

40.32

45.64

44.64

47.6745.57

44.00

43.86

43.59
43.30

43.59

43.38

42.20

41.94

40.69

40.82

39.56

39.50
40.31

40.60

39.78

40.04

39.4039.42

39.27

38.09

38.42

39.09

40.15

41.31

40.69

39.12

40.47

41.36

38.94

38.38

37.82

38.19

36.86 36.98

36.36

36.54

36.32

36.61

35.93

36.09

35.83

37.03

36.18

33.89

36.97

34.50

33.25

32.43

32.88

33.36 34.65

33.54

32.94

33.94

37.28

34.18

34.77

37.79

35.36

36.37 37.14

36.94

38.41

36.23

43.76

40.13

39.62

37.92

35.56

38.79

36.03

37.41

35.77

36.88

STATION

HT 1.8

ROOTLINE

9 GARAGES

36.656

HT 1.8

CLF

HT 1.8

CLF

40.269

CLF

STATION

10

STATION

11

12

34.392

32.037

31.54

STATION

34.41

31.04

30.20 30.23

32.65

32.74

30.66

31.62

32.53

31.15

32.16

36.31

35.89
34.90

35.00

34.41

34.89

35.41
34.09

RIDGE 48.61

33.67

33.16

33.57

32.26

32.93

32.71

32.43

32.52

34.24

33.46

32.20

34.84

34.35

35.48

34.56

36.40

34.48

35.46

31.98

31.65

35.96

31.19

36.18

31.83

32.27

31.71

30.93

32.02

33.71

33.18

35.94

33.64

34.91

34.98

34.78

35.0134.30

33.90

32.87

32.83

33.69

32.92

32.77

31.97

30.54

31.48

31.191066

30.29

30.97

30.71

32.73

PWF

260E

280E

240E

300E

240E

180E

200E

260E

300E

320E

48.202

STATION44.581

50.38

44.23

48.92

49.05

47.31

48.59

45.35

44.37

49.59

GY
44.07

44.13

IC CL

GY

WALL

HT 1.1

44.174

11

36.79

32.16

30.37

STATION50.000

2

46.055

STATION

STATION

4

5

44.261

STATION

STATION

3

44.148

STATION

6

47.809

7

2A

50.04

50.34

50.23

49.38

49.69

49.72

49.9649.96

49.72

48.31

49.28

47.06

48.9248.92

48.13

48.1948.19

47.97

47.06

47.00

48.13

48.03

CLF

47.62

47.03

47.35

HT 1.1

48.59

48.29

48.28

48.06

48.29

48.28

47.67

48.86

47.19

49.49

48.06

46.77

46.27

49.46

49.78

47.96

46.91

48.08

48.97

220E

50.25

50.24

280E

50.24
47.86

47.14

47.69

47.64

47.26

48.70

47.08

48.41

48.70

46.57

46.16

45.47
44.53 44.45

44.40

46.57

46.07

47.37

43.87

44.28

44.17

45.28

44.00

45.87

44.11

45.52

45.64

46.97

44.25

49.21

49.52

49.76

48.94

47.38

49.17
49.44

49.87

48.98

49.07

50.42

46.17

46.68

46.76

46.34

48.02

49.80

50.19

41.55 45.38

50.34
49.09

46.61

50.45

47.43

44.53

50.46

44.75

44.21

44.14

44.41

44.31

45.27

44.30

44.23

EAVE 62.715

EAVE 59.298

EAVE 61.829

50.09
IC CL

IC CL
50.26

40.38

50.0649.22

48.59

60.48
Ridge Level

Ridge Level61.11

60.18Ridge Level

Ridge Level60.19

49.07
IC CL

GY

47.35
IC CL

41.97
48.01

46.07
44.23

47.25

46.94
IC CL

IC CL

IC CL
47.06

47.45

47.35IC CL

48.05
IC CL

GY

GY

47.74

47.52
47.60

48.35

49.04

46.13
IC CL

44.15

GY GY

IC CL

IC CL
44.06

48.21

MH CL

MH CL

48.04

48.12
MH CL

GY

GY

47.92

GY

47.79

IC CL
44.29

EL SUBSTATION

C
AN

FO
R

D
 C

LIFFS R
O

AD

CBF
HT 1.8

CBF

CLF
HT 1.8

HT 2.1

HT 2.1

CBF

WALLHT 0.6-1.7

TARMAC

EXTENT OF
BUSHES TREE CANOPY

EXTENT OFTREE CANOPY

TREE CANOPY

EXTENT OF

SOIL

WALL

WALL

HT 1.0-1.7

BUSHES

HT 1.0-1.7

FLOWER BED

HT 0.9

HT 0.75

WALL

CLF

CLF
HT 1.4

HT 1.2

BUSHES

NAME BOARD

STATION

8

40.269

9
STATION

STATION

STATION

36.656

10

43.70

34.392

44.03

45.02

45.34

45.84

45.41

45.58

45.96

34.94

37.24

32.28

33.87

35.75

36.58

34.77

33.09

35.29

36.86

37.06

44.03

44.08

41.31

41.87

43.00

37.96

45.67

38.73

40.32

45.64

44.64

47.6745.57

44.00

43.86

43.59
43.30

43.59

43.38

42.20

41.94

40.69

40.82

39.56

39.50
40.31

40.60

39.78

40.04

39.4039.42

39.27

38.09

38.42

39.09

40.15

41.31

40.69

39.12

40.47

41.36

38.94

38.38

37.82

38.19

36.86 36.98

36.36

36.54

36.32

36.61

35.93

36.09

35.83

37.03

36.18

33.89

36.97

34.50

33.25

32.43

32.88

33.36 34.65

33.54

32.94

33.94

37.28

34.18

34.77

37.79

35.36

36.37 37.14

36.94

38.41

36.23

43.76

40.13

39.62

37.92

35.56

38.79

36.03

37.41

35.77

36.88

STATION

HT 1.8

ROOTLINE

9 GARAGES

36.656

HT 1.8

CLF

HT 1.8

CLF

40.269

CLF

STATION

10

STATION

11

12

34.392

32.037

31.54

STATION

34.41

31.04

30.20 30.23

32.65

32.74

30.66

31.62

32.53

31.15

32.16

36.31

35.89
34.90

35.00

34.41

34.89

35.41
34.09

RIDGE 48.61

33.67

33.16

33.57

32.26

32.93

32.71

32.43

32.52

34.24

33.46

32.20

34.84

34.35

35.48

34.56

36.40

34.48

35.46

31.98

31.65

35.96

31.19

36.18

31.83

32.27

31.71

30.93

32.02

33.71

33.18

35.94

33.64

34.91

34.98

34.78

35.0134.30

33.90

32.87

32.83

33.69

32.92

32.77

31.97

30.54

31.48

31.191066

30.29

30.97

30.71

32.73

PWF

260E

280E

240E

300E

240E

180E

200E

260E

300E

320E

1 
to

 9
1 

to
 9

1 
to

 9

1100L

1100L 1100L

1100L

1100L

1100L

1100L

1100L

1100L

1100L

1100L

1100L

1100L

1100L
1100L

1100L
1100L

140L
140L

140L
140L

140L
140L

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER TO CONFIRM
BRICK PIER DESIGN AND LOCATIONS

40
0

40
0

40
0

49.400

40.000*
+

40.000*
+

40.000*
+

5m

5m

37.400*
+

Basement outline

SA1
Geo-Cellular Soakaway using Polypipe Polystorm R- units
wrapped in permeable geotextile
103.5 m2 x 0.8m Thk. (2 No. Layers of units)
Provides 78.66m3 storage required in critical 1 in 100yr
event +45% CCA
CL 37.40
TL 39.90
BL 36.10
Designed to recorded infiltration rate of 9.38x10-5m/s
Soakaway to be located min 5m from any building and with
min 500mm cover to units. To be installed in accordance
with manufacturer's recommendations

3.
7m

37.400*
+

48.6048.60

Proposed surface level (assumed)18.250*
+

100Ø 4.5m 1:100
Z BED

Pipe info - diameter, length, gradient,
bedding type

Finished floor level (as taken from ARC
Architecture LTD, drawing no.  9491/701)

PROPOSED FEATURES

00.000

ABBREVIATIONS

MH  - MANHOLE
IC  - INSPECTION CHAMBER
AC  - ACCESS CHAMBER
CP  - CATCHPIT
BC  - BRAKE CHAMBER
RE  - RODDING EYE
IL  - INVERT LEVEL
SL  - SUMP LEVEL
RA  - RESTRICTED ACCESS COVER
CL  - COVER LEVEL
TL  - TOP OF CELLULAR SA
BL  - BASE OF CELLULAR SA
FL  - FORMATION LEVEL

Tree protection zone (as taken from Mark
Hinsley Arboricultural Consultants Ltd,
6231/25/TPP )

Tree protection Barrier (as taken from
Mark Hinsley Arboricultural Consultants
Ltd, 6231/25/TPP)

Extent of permeable paving with porous sub-base

Concrete paving

STANDARD DRAINAGE NOTES

1. DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING, REFER TO FIGURED
DIMENSIONS ONLY. THE CONTRACTOR SHOULD CHECK ALL
DIMENSIONS ON SITE.

2. ALL DIMENSIONS IN MILLIMETRES AND ALL LEVELS ARE IN
METERS UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

3. THIS DRAWING SHOULD BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH ALL
OTHER RELEVANT ARCHITECT AND ENGINEERING DETAILS,
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS.

4. ANY DISCREPANCIES SHOULD BE REPORTED TO THE
ARCHITECT AND/OR ENGINEER IMMEDIATELY, SO THAT
CLARIFICATION CAN BE SOUGHT PRIOR TO THE
COMMENCEMENT OF WORK.

5. BEFORE COMMENCING CONSTRUCTION THE CONTRACTOR
MUST CHECK THE INVERT LEVELS OF EXISTING SEWERS TO
WHICH CONNECTIONS ARE MADE.  IN ADDITION THE
CONTRACTOR MUST LOCATE AND DETERMINE INVERT LEVELS
OF THE EXISTING SPURS TO WHICH CONNECTIONS ARE
PROPOSED. ANY DISCREPANCIES ARE TO BE NOTIFIED TO THE
ENGINEER IMMEDIATELY, PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.

6. ALL DRAINAGE WORKS SHOULD COMMENCE AT THE PROPOSED
DOWNSTREAM CONNECTION POINT, THE WORKS CONTINUING
UPSTREAM FOLLOWING CONFIRMATION OF THE TIE-IN INVERT
LEVELS TO THE ENGINEER. CONNECTIONS TO MANHOLES OR
LARGER SIZED PIPES ETC. SHOULD BE SOFFIT TO SOFFIT
UNLESS OTHERWISE INSTRUCTED BY THE ENGINEER, IF THIS IS
NOT POSSIBLE INFORM THE ENGINEER IMMEDIATELY.

7. COVER LEVELS SHOWN ARE APPROXIMATE. COVERS AND
FRAMES SHALL BE SET TO FINISHED GROUND LEVELS AND
FALLS.

8. ALL UN-REFERENCED PIPES ARE TO BE 100mm DIA

9. ALL PIPES TO BE ADOPTED, OR CONNECTING TO ADOPTED
SEWERS, TO BE VITRIFIED CLAY TO BS EN 295 AND BS65 (SWS
ONLY), OR CONCRETE PIPES TO BE EN 1916 AND BS5911:PART 1.

10. ROAD GULLY OUTLET PIPES ARE TO BE 150mm DIA. WITH
CONCRETE SURROUND AND FLEXIBLE JOINTS. ALL GULLIES
SHALL BE FITTED WITH GRADE D400 GRATINGS AND FRAMES TO
BS EN124, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED.

11. ALL ADOPTABLE SEWERS SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED TO THE
STANDARDS AND SPECIFICATION LAID DOWN DOWN IN `SEWERS
FOR ADOPTION' 6th EDITION, WITH A VIEW TO ADOPTION UPON
COMPLETION OF WORKS.

12. ALL PRIVATE DRAINAGE TO BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
BUILDING REGULATIONS APPROVED DOCUMENT PART-H, AND
TO THE SATISFACTION OF THE BUILDING CONTROL INSPECTOR.

13. THE CONTRACTOR IS TO KEEP A RECORD OF ANY VARIATIONS
MADE ON SITE, INCLUDING THE RELOCATION OF SEWERS OR
DRAINS, SO THAT AN AS CONSTRUCTED DRAWING CAN BE
PREPARED UPON COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT.

14. STUB CONNECTIONS TO ADOPTABLE MANHOLES SHALL BE
MADE FROM VITRIFIED CLAY AND CONSIST OF TWO ROCKER
PIPES LAID AT THE SAME GRADIENT AS THE UP OR
DOWNSTREAM PIPE.

15. IF ANY SUB SOIL DRAINAGE SYSTEMS ARE UNCOVERED DURING
THE WORKS CONTACT THE ENGINEER FOR INSTRUCTIONS. SUB
SOIL DRAINS ARE TO BE DIVERTED AROUND NEW WORKS AND
CONNECTED INTO THE SURFACE WATER.

16. NO PRIVATE AREAS ARE TO DRAIN ONTO ADOPTABLE AREAS
AND VICE VERSA.

17. ALL EXISTING MANHOLE COVER'S, GULLIES, ETC, ARE TO BE
RAISED/LOWERED TO SUIT NEW LEVELS.

18. IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR TO CONFIRM
THE LOCATION AND DEPTH OF ALL EXISTING SERVICES AND
UTILITIES THAT MAY BE PRESENT

19. UPON COMPLETION BUT PRIOR TO HANDOVER, CONTRACTOR
TO CARRY OUT FULL CCTV SURVEY OF DRAINAGE SYSTEM
WHICH IS TO BE REVIEWED BY ENGINEER TO ENSURE
SATISFACTORY INSTALLATION

20. PROPRIETARY PRODUCTS TO BE INSTALLED IN FULL
ACCORDANCE WITH MANUFACTURER'S GUIDANCE.

21. MANHOLE AND CHAMBER COVER GRADES:

- 'A15' IN ALL LANDSCAPED AREAS AND ON FOOTPATHS

- 'B125' IN ALL DRIVEWAYS

- 'C250' IN PRIVATE PARKING AREAS

- 'D400' IN CARRIAGEWAY/ACCESS ROAD

APPREV DATE DESCRIPTION CHKBY

DRAWING No.

CLIENT

ARCHITECT

CHECKEDENGINEERDRAWN

DATE SCALE @ A1

REV. 

JOB TITLE

DRAWING TITLE

STATUSJOB No.

APPROVED

ALEX COLLIER

ARC ARCHITECTURE LTD

172 CANFORD CLIFFS ROAD,
 POOLE, BH13 7ES

PROPOSED SIZE AND LOCATION
OF THE SOAKAWAY

FO
R 

PL
AN

NI
NG

 O
NL

Y

KCK CS CS CS

AUGUST 2025 1:200

C3824 P 101 P-

P- 05.08.25 PRELIMINARY ISSUE KCK CS CS

Prefixed to drawing numbers shall signify the following:-

PL = PLANNING Shall not be used for contract or construction
purposes

P = PRELIMINARY Shall not be used for contract or construction
purposes

T = TENDER Shall not be used for construction purposes

C = CONSTRUCTION These are the only drawings that shall be 
used for construction purposes

R = RECORD Record of actual completed work

Site Specific Notes

1. Proposed SW drainage designed based on desktop study, available
BGS Historical Borehole Logs, Topographical Survey and infiltration
test to BRE365 Method.

2. The proposed soakaway tank has been designed based on
infiltration test results from this site.

3. Proposed surface levels as taken from topographical survey. Surface
levels to be designed by others.

4. The infiltration system has been designed based to cater the Critical
1 in 100 year + 45% climate change event.

71



T
his page is intentionally left blank

72


	Agenda
	4 Confirmation of Minutes
	5 Public Issues
	PLANNING COMMITTEE - PROTOCOL FOR SPEAKING / STATEMENTS AT PLANNING COMMITTEE
	1. Introduction
	2. Order of presentation of an application
	3. Guidance relating to the application of this protocol
	4. Electronic facilities relating to Planning Committee
	4.1. All electronic broadcasting and recording of a Planning Committee meeting by the Council and the provision of an opportunity to speak remotely at such a meeting is dependent upon such matters being accessible, operational and useable during the m...

	5. Attending in person at a Planning Committee meeting / wholly virtual meetings
	5.1. Unless otherwise stated on the Council’s website and/or the agenda Planning Committee will be held as a physical (in person) meeting. A Planning Committee meeting will only be held as a wholly virtual meeting during such time as a decision has be...

	6. Provisions for speaking at Planning Committee (whether in person or remotely)
	6.1. Any applicant, objector or supporter who wishes to speak at a Planning Committee meeting must register a request to speak in writing with Democratic Services at democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  by 10.00 am of the working day before the meet...
	6.2. A person registering a request to speak must:
	6.3. There will be a maximum combined time of five minutes allowed for any person(s) objecting to an application to speak.  A further combined five minute maximum will also be allowed for any supporter(s).  Up to two people may speak during each of th...
	6.4. If more than two people seek to register a wish to speak for either side, an officer from Democratic Services may ask those seeking the opportunity to speak to appoint up to two representatives to address the Planning Committee.  In the absence o...
	6.5. A person registered to speak may appoint a different person to speak on their behalf.  The person registered to speak should normally notify Democratic Services of this appointment prior to the time that is made available to speak on the applicat...
	6.6. A person may at any time withdraw their request to speak by notifying Democratic Services by email or in person on the day of that meeting.  However, where such a withdrawal is made after the deadline date for receipt of requests then the availab...
	6.7. During consideration of a planning application at a Planning Committee meeting, no question should be put or comment made to any councillor sitting on the Planning Committee by any applicant, objector or supporter whether as part of a speech or o...

	7. Questions to person speaking under this protocol
	7.1. Questions will not normally be asked of any person who has been given the opportunity to speak for the purpose of this Protocol.  However, the Chair at their absolute discretion may raise points of clarification.

	8. Speaking as a ward councillor or other BCP councillor (whether in person or remotely)
	8.1. Any ward councillor shall usually be afforded an opportunity to speak on an application at the Planning Committee meeting at which it is considered.  Every ward councillor who is given the opportunity to speak will have up to five minutes each.
	8.2. At the discretion of the Chair, any other councillor of BCP Council not sitting as a voting member of the Planning Committee may also be given the opportunity to speak on an application being considered at Planning Committee.  Every such councill...
	8.3. Any member of the Planning Committee who has exercised their call in powers to bring an application to the Planning Committee for decision should not vote on that item but subject to any requirements of the Member Code of Conduct, may have or, at...

	9. Speaking as a Parish or Town Council representative (whether in person or remotely)
	9.1. A Parish or Town Council representative who wishes to speak as a representative of that Parish or Town Council must register as an objector or supporter and the same provisions for speaking as apply to any other objector or supporter applies to t...

	10. Content of speeches (whether in person or remotely) and use of supporting material
	10.1. Speaking must be done in the form of an oral representation.  This should only refer to planning related issues as these are the only matters the Planning Committee can consider when making decisions on planning applications.  Speakers should no...
	10.2. A speaker who wishes to provide or rely on any photograph, illustration or other visual material when speaking (in person or remotely) must submit this to Democratic Services by 12 noon two working days before the meeting. All such material must...
	10.3. The ability to display material on screen is wholly dependent upon the availability and operation of suitable electronic equipment at the time of the Planning Committee meeting and cannot be guaranteed.  Every person making a speech should there...

	11. Remote speaking at Planning Committee
	11.1. In circumstances where the Council has put in place electronic facilities which enable a member of the public to be able to speak remotely to a Planning Committee meeting, a person may request the opportunity to speak remotely via those electron...
	11.2. The opportunity to speak remotely is undertaken at a person’s own risk on the understanding that should any technical issues affect their ability to participate remotely the meeting may still proceed to hear the item on which they wish to speak ...
	11.3. A person attending to speak remotely may at any time be required by the Chair or the Democratic Services Officer to leave any electronic facility that may be provided.

	12. Non-attendance / inability to be heard at Planning Committee
	12.1. It is solely the responsibility of a person who has been given an opportunity to speak on an application at a Planning Committee meeting (whether in person or remotely) to ensure that they are present for that meeting at the time when an opportu...
	12.2. A failure / inability by any person to attend and speak in person or remotely at a Planning Committee meeting at the time made available for that person to speak on an application will normally be deemed a withdrawal of their wish to speak on th...
	12.3. This protocol includes provisions enabling the opportunity to provide a statement as an alternative to speaking in person / as a default option in the event of a person being unable to speak at the appropriate meeting time.

	13. Submission of statement as an alternative to speaking / for use in default
	13.1. A person (including a councillor of BCP Council) who has registered to speak, may submit a statement to be read out on their behalf as an alternative to speaking at a Planning Committee meeting (whether in person or remotely).
	13.2. Further, any person speaking on an application at Planning Committee may, at their discretion, additionally submit a statement which can be read out as provided for in this protocol in the event of not being able to attend and speak in person or...

	14. Provisions relating to a statement
	15. Assessment of information / documentation / statement
	15.1. BCP Council reserves the right to check any statement and any information / documentation (including any photograph, illustration or other visual material) provided to it for use at a Planning Committee meeting and to prevent the use of such inf...

	16. Guidance on what amounts to a material planning consideration
	16.1. As at the date of adoption of this protocol, the National Planning Portal provides the following guidance on material planning considerations:

	Note
	For the purpose of this protocol:
	(a) reference to the “Chair” means the Chair of Planning Committee and shall include the Vice Chair of Planning Committee if the Chair is at any time unavailable or absent and the person presiding at the meeting of a Planning Committee at any time tha...
	(b) reference to the Head of Planning includes any officer nominated by them for the purposes of this protocol and if at any time the Head of Planning in unavailable, absent or the post is vacant / ceases to exist, then the Development Management Mana...
	(c) reference to ‘ward councillor’ means a councillor in whose ward the application being considered at a meeting of Planning Committee is situated in whole or part and who is not a voting member of the Planning Committee in respect of the application...
	(d) a “wholly virtual meeting” is a Planning Committee meeting where no one including officers and councillors physically attend the meeting; however, a meeting will not be held as a “wholly virtual meeting” unless legislation permits



	6a 10 Egdon Drive, Poole BH21 1TY
	Plan Drawing

	6b Carisbrooke, 172 Canford Cliffs Road, Poole, BH13 7ES
	703D Proposed First, Second, and Third Floor Plan
	Sheets and Views
	09.06.25-703D


	704E Proposed Fourth, Fifth Floor Plan and Roof Plan
	Sheets and Views
	09.06.25-704E


	705G Proposed Front and Side Elevations
	Sheets and Views
	09.06.25-705G


	706G Proposed Rear and Side Elevations
	Sheets and Views
	09.06.25-706G


	C3824_101_Proposed Soakaway Size
	Sheets and Views
	101




